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Results

2024 2023
HK$ Million HK$ Million

Revenue

Profit before depreciation, amortisation, interest and tax

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company

Basic earnings per share

Dividend per share

//ﬁNANuAL HIGHLIGHTS

4,075 4,051
546 541
264 293

HK49.3 cents HK54.8 cents

— Interim HK30 cents HK30 cents
— Final HK8 cents HK8 cents
— Special = HK6 cents

2024 2023
Financial Position HK$ Million HK$ Million
Total assets 3,170 3,075
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 909 623
Shareholders’ equity 1,576 1,629
Net assets per share attributable to owners of the Company HK$2.95 HK$3.05

Y
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<~ HK$ MILLION: ~ &
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
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CONG TY TNHH EAGLE NICE VIET NAM
EAGLE NICE (INTERNATIONAL) HOLDINGS LIMITED

Ap Mdi 2, X3 My Hanh Nam, Huyén Didc Mo, Tinh Long An, Viét Nam
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
for the financial year ended 31 March 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Proactive Transformation

Amidst rapid-changing markets and macro-environment, the Group adhered to its initial aspirations
and pressed forward in a prudent manner in line with its corporate strategy of enhancing core
competitiveness. The Group persisted in the operational principle of seeking progress amidst and
on the back of stable operations as its long term business model, committed to fortifying the
foundation for “stability” while inspiring power and strength for “progress”, in a bid to deliver
value to the Shareholders in a sustainable manner.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

During the year under review, the global economy was subject to various challenges such as geopolitical
tensions, rapid inflation and interest rates hikes, whilst consumer demand was lacklustre as overall market
recovery was more moderate than expected. The Group’s management stayed vigilant and closely monitored
changes in the economic landscape. Well-laid response strategies that fully leveraged the Group’s strengths
were formulated to actively adjust its business deployment, upgrade its intelligent production facilities, expand
the capacity of efficient production and enhance its competitiveness in the overseas market.

Despite intense competition in the sportswear market, the Group has successfully increased the percentage
share of the Chinese Mainland market in its overall sales revenue and maintained stability in sales revenue for
the year under review, attributable to the united effort of staff across the Group to accurately grasp
opportunities presented by the moderate recovery of the Chinese economy in close tandem with the direction
of national industrial policies, while vigorously capitalising on the driving force brought about by the Hangzhou
Asian Games held during the year under review.

Operating costs increased mainly as a result of the commissioning of new factories, recruitment of talents and
increase in finance cost. Nevertheless, the Group’s management is adamant that high-calibre staff are the
fundamental driving force behind the Group’s sustainable development which would bring to the Group the kind
of innovative vigour required for the development of new markets, thereby delivering greater value to the
Shareholders.

All in all, the Group has maintained remarkable business results amidst a difficult environment, showcasing its
strong potential for development and resilience against risks. The Group will continue to pursue progress in a
stable manner and drive the steady development and long-term sustainability of the Company on the back of a
solid foundation.



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

Efficiency and Quality with Steady Expansion

The Group actively implemented the diversification strategy and optimised the presence of its production
facilities on an ongoing basis, fully leveraging the regional advantages of various locations. The Group's overall
competitiveness has been enhanced as internal synergies and complementary strengths have been brought into
full play.

Bandung Factory in Indonesia acquired by the Group in late 2021 has currently been fully commissioned and a
new customer was solicited to generate new driving force for the Group's development.

Following the completion of conversion and optimisation work at Long An Factory in Vietnam which was
acquired by the Group in 2022, the factory has been commissioned since April 2024, which further strengthens
the Group’s competitive advantage in the overseas market.

Foshan Factory in Chinese Mainland acquired by the Group in 2023 has been smoothly integrated into the
Group, focusing on serving the domestic market.

In early 2024, the Group completed the acquisition of the industrial land and building with land area of
approximately of 93,5600 square metres adjacent to Bandung Factory in Indonesia in preparation for future
expansion. The expansion plans have been set in motion and commissioning is scheduled for 2026, whereby
the Group’'s overseas production capacity will be further increased.

Notwithstanding the increase in loan interest expenses and depreciation costs as a result of additional capital
investment required for the acquisitions and the expansion projects during the year under review, from a
strategic point of view, the capacity expansion of its overseas production bases has allowed the Group to
further improve the global presence of its operations and resources, allocate resources with greater flexibility,
operate with stronger efficiency and swiftly respond to different market demands. At the same time, the Group
is able to mitigate policy and business risks and further enhance its overall competitiveness.
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Chairman’s Statement (continued)

CHARITY AND COMPASSION FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE COMMUNITY

“Eagle Nice Volunteers” comprising the Group’s staff members was formed in Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong
and Indonesia and organised regular visits to social welfare institutions such as elderly homes and children’s
homes to bring warmth and care to the underprivileged groups in line with the principle of rewarding the
community with charity and compassion.

The operations of “Eagle Nice Volunteers” in charity and care have generated positive energy and contributed
to the development of social harmony. In future, the Group will continue to share its compassion and reward
the community with solid actions to offer contribution to social progress.

OUTLOOK: VALIANCE AND DETERMINATION ON THE WAY FORWARD

Looking ahead to the coming year, the Group is facing new opportunities as well as challenges. The Board
holds out cautious optimism on the Group’s business prospects, as the Group looks to implement rigorous cost
control measures to further optimise and fortify the Group's diversified production bases.

In the meantime, the Group will actively embrace the trend of intelligent development and drive the
implementation of a mechanical and digital production model with vigorous effort. The Group has introduced
state-of-the-art automated equipment systems to optimise the end-to-end process from the supply chain to the
production end. Production efficiency and precision have been considerably enhanced as a result. Such digital
and automated measures will effectively monitor the application of resources and reduce the consumption of
energy and raw materials to facilitate effective control over carbon emission. The Group is committed to the
building of eco-friendly factories with energy conservation and carbon reduction features, with a view to laying
a solid foundation for sustainable development while contributing the Group’s humble efforts to the sustainable
utilisation of the Earth’s resources.



Chairman’s Statement (continued)

| would like to take this opportunity to express on behalf of the Board sincere gratitude to all Shareholders,
customers, suppliers and business partners for their support. Whilst pursuing sustainable development, the
Group will continue to maintain its policy on dividend payout ratio to honour its pledge to reward the
Shareholders. Appreciation is also due to all members of the management and staff for their hard work and
contributions to the Group's sustainable development.

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 11 June 2024
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MANUFACTURING STRENGTH: F
+—— EXPANSION AND OPTIMISATION OF OUR FACTORY NETWVORK
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Manufacturing Strength: Expansion and Optimisation of Our Factory Network (continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Performance

During the year under review, there was a dramatic increase in the demand for comfortable athleisure wear and
sportswear as “home office” has become a growing trend. Moreover, the change in the sportswear market in
its demand for fashion also called for change in supply, as sportswear companies launched fashionable
sportswear or athleisure wear catered to different age groups just like fashion brands, and this demand was
mainly accounted for by the United States and European markets. In Chinese Mainland’'s domestic sportswear
market, ongoing stable growth was noted given the growing emphasis on sports and health on the part of the
public, as the development of the Chinese Mainland’'s market became a strategic focus for the major brands. In
view of the above, the three major markets for the Group's sales remained to be Chinese Mainland, the United
States and Europe, which together accounted for approximately 87% (2023: 86%) of the Group’s total sales for
the year under review.

Regarding global sportswear supply, Chinese Mainland remains an important player. Although the export
percentage share accounted for by sportswear manufacturers in Chinese Mainland has substantially decreased
under the impact of the China-United States trade war, Vietnam and Indonesia have benefitted immensely from
the shifting supply chain. Operating with production bases in Chinese Mainland, Vietnam and Indonesia, the
Group was able to focus on developing the market and local brands of Chinese Mainland during the year to
capitalise on its domestic production capacity. As a result, sales in Chinese Mainland increased substantially by
8.7% from 48.5% to 57.2% as a percentage of the Group’s total sales, whilst the aggregate of European and
U.S. sales decreased by 7.3% from 37.2% to 29.9% as a percentage of the Group's total sales during the year.

The Group reported a total sales of HK$4,074.7 million for the year, representing a slight increase of HK$23.6
million or 0.6% as compared to total sales of HK$4,051.1 million for last year. Gross profit for the year
decreased slightly by 1.0% to HK$748.7 million (2023: HK$755.9 million), while gross profit margin dropped
mildly by 0.3% from 18.7% to 18.4%. The Group’'s profit before taxation for the year decreased by 4.7% to
HK$380.8 million (2023: HK$399.4 million), while pre-tax profit margin conceded slightly by 0.6% from 9.9% to
9.3%.

In recent years, the substantial appreciation of the U.S. Dollar (USD) and devaluation of non-U.S. currencies
continued as a result of ongoing USD interest rate hikes. The Group's production costs are mainly settled in
Renminbi (RMB), Indonesian Rupiah (IDR) and Vietnamese Dong (VND). While the devaluation of these
currencies has lowered the Group's production costs, the devaluation of RMB has affected the growth in the
Group’s total revenue for the year as during the year, more than half of the Group’s sales revenue derived from
the Chinese Mainland market settled in RMB. Moreover, the loss positions for the year recorded by Bandung
Factory in Indonesia, which was officially commissioned during the year, and by Long An Factory in Vietnam,
which had yet to officially commence production, had contributed to a decline in the Group’s profit before
taxation for the year.

The amount of the Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year under review decreased by HK$6.2
million (or 18.3%) despite the increase in the Group's total sales revenue for the year by HK$23.6 million (or
0.6%), which was attributable to the significant increase of HK$367.8 million (or 18.7%) for the year in revenue
from sales in Chinese Mainland, for which some of the delivery costs of finished goods were borne by
customers of local brands. Administrative expenses increased by HK$13.3 million (or 4.5%), owing mainly to the
increase in staff remuneration and benefits after annual adjustments and the hiring of additional staff to cope
with business expansion and growth, design optimisation and product development. In connection with finance
costs, interest expenses for the year increased substantially by HK$21.8 million (or 101.0%) compared to last
year, as the Group's bank loans increased significantly in recent years to finance the acquisition of several
production bases and optimisation of production equipment for the purpose of production capacity expansion,
while the loan interest rate continued to rise amidst the U.S. interest rate hike cycle in recent years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Financial Performance (continued)

As for taxation, while the Group's profit before taxation for the year decreased by HK$18.7 million (or 4.7%),
overall tax expenses for the year increased by HK$10.2 million (or 10.4%) on an effective tax rate of 28.6%, an
increase by 3.9% over 24.7% for last year. This was mainly attributable to the substantial increase in sales
revenue in Chinese Mainland of HK$367.8 million (or 18.7%), resulting in an increase in profit contributions from
the Group’s subsidiary companies in Chinese Mainland which are subject to higher profits tax rate in compared
to the Group’s Hong Kong companies earning income through exports. In addition, the higher effective tax rate
resulted from the decrease in the Group's profit before taxation as Bandung Factory in Indonesia and Long An
Factory in Vietnam were operating at a loss, as mentioned above.

Other income and gains amounted to HK$19.9 million (2023: HK$22.7 million), comprising mainly incentive or
subsidies granted by Chinese Mainland and/or Hong Kong governments amounting to HK$9.4 million (2023:
HK$13.5 million) and bank interest income of HK$5.5 million (2023: HK$3.8 million). Other operating expenses
amounted to HK$8.2 million (2023: HK$28.5 million), comprising mainly exchange loss of HK$7.8 million (2023:
HK$26.5 million) attributable to RMB devaluation.

The Group’'s profit was affected by the substantial increase in finance cost coupled with RMB devaluation,
resulting in profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to HK$263.5 million for the vyear,
representing a decrease of HK$29.1 million or 10.0% compared to HK$292.6 million for last year. Net profit
margin attributable to owners of the Company decreased by 0.7% from 7.2% to 6.5%. Basic earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company for the year amounted to HK49.3 cents compared to HK54.8 cents for
the previous year. The Board proposed a final dividend of HK8 cents (2023: HK8 cents) per share. To celebrate
the 20th anniversary of the Company's listing on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”), a special dividend of HK6 cents per ordinary share was declared last year. Together with the
interim dividend of HK30 cents (2023: HK30 cents) per share paid during the year, total dividend for the year
amounted to HK38 cents per ordinary share, versus HK38 cents (excluding special dividend) and HK44 cents
(including special dividend) for last year. The dividend payout ratio for the year was 77.0% (2023 (excluding
special dividend): 69.3%).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the year under review, the Group continued to maintain a healthy liquidity position. The Group generally
finances its operations with internally generated resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had cash and bank balances amounted to HK$490.1 million (31 March 2023: HK$515.4 million) mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB, USD, IDR and VND.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's banking facilities of HK$1,486.3 million (2023: HK$1,108.5 million) were
supported by the corporate guarantees of HK$1,490.3 million (2023: HK$1,108.5 million) executed by the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 March 2024, an aggregate amount of the Group's
banking facilities of HK$909.5 million (31 March 2023: HK$622.8 million) was utilised.

The management believes that the Group’s existing financial resources will be sufficient to meet its existing
operations as well as existing and future expansion plans and, if necessary, the Group will be able to obtain
additional financing with favourable terms. There is no material effect of seasonality on the Group's borrowing
requirements.

Gearing ratio of the Group is defined as the net debt (represented by bank borrowings net of cash and bank
balances) divided by the total equity. The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 March 2024 was 25.7% (31 March
2023: 6.4%).



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

The Group has transactional currency exposures as substantial portion of sales or purchases are denominated in
USD and RMB. As such, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from such exposure to USD and
RMB. Although the Group has strived to maintain the balance of its sales and purchases in the same currency,
as the foreign currency risks generated from the sales and purchases can only be partially set off with each
other, financial instrument may be employed when necessary to manage the Group's exposure to the potential
foreign exchange risk.

The Group will continue to monitor its foreign exchange exposures and use appropriate tools to manage and
minimise its foreign exchange risk.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

There was no acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2024. For the year ended
31 March 2023, other than the asset acquisition of Long An Factory in Vietnam through acquisition of
subsidiaries as detailed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 April 2022, there was no acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: Nil).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's banking facilities of HK$1,486.3 million (2023: HK$1,108.5 million) were
supported by the corporate guarantees of HK$1,490.3 million (2023: HK$1,108.5 million) executed by the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 March 2024, an aggregate amount of the Group's
banking facilities of HK$909.5 million (31 March 2023: HK$622.8 million) was utilised.

Capital Commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of the year under review:

As at As at

31 March 31 March
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000

Contracted, but not provided for:
Renovation and purchases of property, plant and equipment located at:

— Shantou 19,172 8,522
— Hubei 533 10,274
— Indonesia 4,596 28,520
— Vietnam 10,740 48,116
— Hong Kong 11,890 86
— Other locations 771 1,262

47,702 96,780
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed a total of approximately 15,500 employees including directors
(31 March 2023: approximately 15,000). Total employee benefit expenses for the year under review including
directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments were HK$1,052.6 million (2023: HK$1,042.7 million).

The employees including directors are remunerated based on their work performance, professional experiences
and the prevailing industry practice. The Group also makes contributions to the statutory mandatory provident
fund scheme and defined contribution retirement benefits scheme for the employees of the Group in Hong
Kong and to the pension scheme for the employees of the Group in Chinese Mainland, Vietnam and Indonesia.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group, through certain of its subsidiaries, conducted the following continuing connected transactions
(collectively, the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) under Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”):

(a)

Master Services Agreement

On 1 June 2021, Pouyuen Vietnam Company Limited (“Pouyuen Vietnam”), a company established
in Vietnam and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yue Yuen Industrial (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 00551) (“Yue Yuen”), a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, who in turn is a connected person of the Company, and Pro
Kingtex Vietnam Co., Limited (“Pro Kingtex Vietnam"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a master services agreement (the “Master Services Agreement”) for a term of 3 years
commencing from 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2024 subject to a maximum service fees payable by Pro
Kingtex Vietnam to Pouyuen Vietnam as follows:

For the financial year
ended/ending 31 March

2024 2025
US$ (exclusive of value-added tax) 1,800,000 300,000
Equivalent to approximately HK$ 14,040,000 2,340,000

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the actual amounts charged by Pouyuen Vietnam to Pro Kingtex
Vietnam under the Master Services Agreement amounted to US$1,098,559 (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,590,000) which did not exceed the annual cap as previously disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 1 June 2021. Further details of the Master Service Agreement
are disclosed in the aforesaid announcement.

On 31 May 2024, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a new master services
agreement (the “New Master Services Agreement”) to renew the Master Services Agreement
expired on 31 May 2024 for a term of three years from 1 June 2024 to 31 May 2027. Pursuant to
the New Master Services Agreement, the annual maximum services fees payable by Pro Kingtex
Vietnam to Pouyuen Vietnam shall not exceed the amount of US$1,800,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$14,076,000), further details of which are disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 31 May 2024.



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

A. Continuing Connected Transactions (continued)

(b) Sales Agreements

(c)

HHILENEEREE R MBMRAE (Hubei LPV Sports Co., Limited) (“Dongneng”) has been an indirect
80%-owned subsidiary of the Company since January 2019. Dongneng has carried out transactions
with Li Ning Company Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Codes: 02331 (HKD counter) and 82331 (RMB counter)) (“Li Ning” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Li Ning Group”) since 2009 which involved sales of sportswear products by
Dongneng to the Li Ning Group. These transactions between Dongneng and the Li Ning Group have
been continuing after Dongneng became an indirect 80%-owned subsidiary of the Company
following completion of the acquisition of Dongneng by the Group in January 2019, while the
remaining 20% is held indirectly by Li Ning. Accordingly, since January 2019, Li Ning and its
subsidiaries are considered connected persons of the Company at the subsidiary level. Additionally,
three indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, namely #ZECGUE)EKXKEBEAS (“EN
(Shantou)"), E= (BEZ)RKXERAT (“EN (Yifeng)") and E3= (L) BXERAE (“EN (Foshan)"),
have also carried out the same transactions with the Li Ning Group as previously carried out by
Dongneng since August 2019.

The Group has carried out sales of sportswear products to the Li Ning Group since January 2019. In
relation to these transactions carried out from January 2019 to December 2023 (the “Past
Transactions”), the Group entered into various framework agreements with the Li Ning Group. The
Group has entered into various framework agreements (the “Sales Agreements”) with the Li Ning
Group effective from 1 January 2024 for the on-going transactions (the “On-going Transactions”).
Both the Past Transactions and the On-going Transactions constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, which are subject to
announcement, annual reporting and annual review requirements, but are exempted from the
circular, independent financial advice and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant
to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules. The Company should have complied with the announcement,
annual reporting and annual review requirements; and set an annual cap under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules but failed to do so. Further details of the Sales Agreements are disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 10 July 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the amount of sales (exclusive of VAT) carried out by the Group
with the Li Ning Group amounted to RMB659,823,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$721,749,000).

Short-Term Tenancy Agreement

On 1 April 2024, Pouyuen Vietnam (as landlord) and Pro Kingtex Vietnam (as tenant) entered into a
short-term tenancy agreement (the “Additional Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of 5 months from 1
April 2024 to 31 August 2024. Further details of the Additional Tenancy Agreement are disclosed in
the announcement of the Company dated 31 May 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

B.

Connected Transactions

Tenancy Agreements

On 25 November 2020, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a supplemental tenancy
agreement (the “Supplemental Tenancy Agreement”) for 2 years and 6 months commencing from
1 December 2020 to 31 May 2023 for a monthly rental of US$11,094 (inclusive of management fees and
exclusive of value-added tax). On 1 June 2023, the same parties entered into a new supplemental
tenancy agreement (the “"New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of 13 months from 1 June
2023 to 30 June 2024 to renew the Supplemental Tenancy Agreement. Pursuant to the New
Supplemental Tenancy Agreement, the monthly rental is VND261 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$81,000) (inclusive of management fees and exclusive of value-added tax).

On 1 June 2021, Pouyuen Vietnam and Pro Kingtex Vietnam entered into a tenancy agreement (the
“Tenancy Agreement”) for a term of 3 years from 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2024 for a monthly rental of
US$71,184 (equivalent to approximately HK$555,000) (inclusive of management fees and exclusive of
value-added tax). On 31 May 2024, the same parties entered into a new tenancy agreement (the “New
Tenancy Agreement”) to renew the Tenancy Agreement for a term of three years from 1 June 2024 to 31
May 2027.

The Group, as the tenant, recognised right-of-use assets according to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards 16 issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, with the values of
US$324,022, US$140,287 and US$2,484,736 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,511,000, HK$1,097,000 and
HK$19,331,000 respectively) for the Supplemental Tenancy Agreement, the New Supplementary Tenancy
Agreement and the Tenancy Agreement respectively. The transactions contemplated under all the
aforesaid tenancy agreements (collectively, the “Connected Transactions”) are regarded as acquisition of
assets under the definition of transaction set out in Rule 14.04(1)(a) and Rule 14A.24(1) of the Listing
Rules.

Further details of the Connected Transactions have been disclosed in four announcements of the
Company dated 25 November 2020 (for the Supplemental Tenancy Agreement), 1 June 2021 and 9 June
2021 (for the Tenancy Agreement), and 31 May 2024 (for the New Supplemental Tenancy Agreement and
the New Tenancy Agreement).

Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) ~ on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i)  according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.



Management Discussion and Analysis (continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

D.

Confirmation of the Company’s Auditor

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the disclosed continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to
Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

After performing the procedures, the Company's auditor confirmed that in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Master Services Agreement and the Sales Agreements:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the Company's board of directors.

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.

c. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions.

d. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company except for the
continuing connected transactions in respect of the Sales Agreements which they were unable to
perform any procedures because the Company did not set any annual cap for those transactions.

The Company’s auditor has issued a letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions contemplated under the Master Services Agreement and the Sales
Agreements in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS" AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chung Yuk Sing, aged 63, has been the Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company since
October 2002. He has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since June 2013. He is
the founder of the Group and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung provides leadership
to the Board and is responsible for corporate development. He has been awarded the Medal of Honor of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region and accredited as “Honorary Citizen of Shantou City” in the PRC. Mr.
Chung holds several public positions, including the Honorary President of Shantou Overseas Sodality, Honorary
President of Shantou Overseas Communication Association and Honorary President of Social Security and
Welfare Association of Lunghu, Shantou City.

Chen Hsiao Ying, aged 60, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since October 2007. He
was Chief Executive Officer of the Company from October 2007 to June 2013. He has been appointed as the
Vice Chairman of the Board since August 2013. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Chen had worked as Factory Manager in a sportswear manufacturing and trading company in Taiwan since
1981 prior to founding Actex Garment Co., Limited, a company specialising in the manufacturing and trading of
sportswear, in 1997. Mr. Chen has over 30 years of manufacturing and management experience in the garment
industry. He is in charge of the corporate strategy, management, business development and manufacturing
management of the Group. He is the father of Mr. Chen Yian, a member of senior management of the Group.

Chung Chi Kit, aged 35, has been the Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company
since December 2020 and August 2022 respectively. He joined the Group as Special Assistant to Chairman in
April 2015 and was promoted to Business Managing Director in March 2016. He is responsible for business
planning and development of the Group. He was the Chief Executive Officer of a wine distribution company up
to March 2015. He graduated from Nottingham Trent University in 2011 and holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Accounting and Finance. He obtained a Master's Degree in Marketing and a Master's Degree in International
Business from the Royal Holloway, University of London and Hult International Business School in 2012 and
2013, respectively. He is the son of Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, the Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Huang Yongbiao, aged 58, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He is
currently a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang has over 30 years of manufacturing and
management experience in the garment industry.

Chen Fang Mei, aged 61, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since May 2009. She is
responsible for treasury and financial matters of the Group. She had been the Spokesperson and Vice President
of Pou Chen Corporation (stock code: 9904) (“Pou Chen”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Pou Chen
Group”), a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation, during 2004 to 2013. She graduated
from Soochow University in Taiwan in 1986 and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in International Business. Ms. Chen
was Vice President and Head of Underwriting of Citibank Securities (Taiwan) Limited from 2001 to 2004. She
has over 20 years of experience in the investment and securities industries in Taiwan. Ms. Chen was an
executive director of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 01223), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange from July 2009 to June 2015.



Directors” and Senior Management’s Biographies (continued)

Shih Chih-Hung, aged 58, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since April 2020. He is
one of the vice presidents of Yue Yuen and has been appointed as a director and chief financial officer of Yue
Yuen since September 2022. He had been a director of Elitegroup Computer Systems Co., Ltd (stock code:
2331), Evermore Chemical Industry Co., Ltd (stock code: 1735) and Nan Pao Resins Chemical Co., Ltd (stock
code: 4766), all companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation, from July 2021 to November
2023, from May 2022 to June 2024 and from May 2022 to October 2022, respectively. He joined Yue Yuen in
1991 and is currently responsible for the promulgation and implementation of administrative policies of Yue
Yuen and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Yue Yuen Group”) in Indonesia, Vietnam, Bangladesh, Cambodia and
Myanmar. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of Yue Yuen and one of the vice presidents of Pou Chen.
He graduated from Chung-Yuan University with a bachelor degree in accounting.

Hu Chia-Ho, aged 55, has joined the Group as Executive Director of the Company since December 2020. He
joined Pou Chen in 1997 and is currently one of the vice presidents and the head of CEO office of Pou Chen.
He has been an executive director, and a member of nomination committee and disclosure committee of Pou
Sheng International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 03813), a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from July 2022. He was an executive director and a vice president of Yue Yuen Group
from March 2015 to June 2022. Mr. Hu has extensive experiences in human resources management and
business development. Prior to joining Pou Chen, Mr. Hu had worked in Citibank Taiwan and was responsible
for corporate financing and related businesses. He graduated from the University of Wisconsin, Madison, the
United States of America with a Master's Degree of Science.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chan Cheuk Ho, aged 57, obtained a Master’'s Degree in Business Administration from the University of
Manchester in 2003. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Chan has more than 20 years of experience in accounting and finance. He has been an independent non-
executive director of EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited (stock code: 03860), Winshine Science
Company Limited (stock code: 00209) and Gudou Holdings Limited (stock code: 08308), all companies listed on
the Stock Exchange, since July 2021, June 2023 and December 2023, respectively. He is a company secretary
of Pine Technology Holdings Limited (stock code: 01079) and SuperRobotics Holdings Limited (stock code:
08176), companies listed on the Stock Exchange with effect from July 2017 and June 2022 respectively. He
has been Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since November 2002.
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Directors” and Senior Management’s Biographies (continued)

Tham Kit Wan, aged 63, is a qualified lawyer of Hong Kong, England and Wales and Singapore. Ms. Tham
obtained a degree of Bachelor of Laws from The National University of Singapore in June 1983 and a degree of
Master of Laws (International Business Law) from The City University of Hong Kong in November 2006. She
has more than 25 years of experience in corporate finance and the commercial and banking fields. She was a
director of Union Bank of Hong Kong Limited (formerly traded under the stock code: 349 of the Stock
Exchange) and Union Bank Finance Limited from 1989 to 1993. She was the Head of Legal Department of
K.Wah Construction Materials Limited (now known as Galaxy Entertainment Group (stock code: 00027)), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, from 1998 to 2007. She served as Legal Counsel and
Senior Vice President of Symphony Holdings Limited (stock code: 01223), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, from 2007 to 2015. She has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company since September 2016.

Leung Spencer Yu Cheong, aged 48, is currently the Principal Consultant of a consultancy firm that provides
advice to leading brand-portfolio companies in US and Chinese Mainland on their transformation programs,
including supply-chain & transfer pricing optimisation, long term strategy review, and organisational structure
design. Between 2005 and 2018, Mr. Leung had worked as an Equity Research Analyst covering in various
industry segments, and last held the position of Hong Kong Strategist with Union Bank of Switzerland. Mr.
Leung is also a Responsible Officer licensed to carry out Type 4 (Advising on Securities) and Type 9 (Asset
Management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO") with Innovest Asset Management Limited. Mr. Leung obtained a Master of Business
Administration Degree from New York University Leonard N. Stern School of Business in 2005, a Master of
Applied Science Degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Ottawa in 2002 and a Bachelor of
Applied Science Degree in Electrical Engineering from the University of Toronto in 1998. Mr. Leung is currently
a member of the Admissions, Budgets and Allocations Committee of The Community Chest of Hong Kong. He
has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company since December 2020.

Sun Yun-Rui, aged 52, is currently Chief Operating Officer of Les Enphants (Taiwan) which is a retailer of
children’s apparel and accessories in Asia with operations in Chinese Mainland, Taiwan, and Southeast Asia.
Mr. Sun has the unique background of having worked on both ends of the apparel supply chain spectrum. Over
the course of over 30 years, Mr. Sun has worked at apparel importers in Los Angeles, United States of
America, a leading global apparel sourcing company in Hong Kong, department store branch offices in Taiwan
and an apparel supplier/manufacturer in Shanghai. Mr. Sun’s business, professional, operational and financial
acumen comes from working for a leading global training and development company as well as owning and
operating a business startup coaching consultancy. Mr. Sun obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree from
California State Polytechnic University, Pomona in 1995. He has been appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since March 2024.



Directors” and Senior Management’s Biographies (continued)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Chen Yian, aged 25, has joined the group since January 2024 as the Assistant to the Vice Chairman and was
promoted to the Merchandising Director of the Company in April 2024. Mr. Chen graduated from Simon Fraser
University in Canada with a Degree in Communications. He is the son of Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying, the Vice
Chairman of the Board and Executive Director of the Company.

Tsang Sau Fan, aged 57, has joined the Group since March 1996. She was Executive Director of the Company
from October 2002 to May 2009. Currently, she is General Manager of the Group and is responsible for sales
and marketing of the Group. She has over 20 years of experience in sales of garment products. Prior to joining
the Group, she worked as a merchandiser in a garment manufacturing company in Hong Kong.

Poon Wai Kin, aged 54, currently is the Merchandising General Manager of the Group. He joined the Group in
August 2009. Mr. Poon is responsible for overseeing all aspects of product creation, capacity planning and
supply chain management. Mr. Poon holds a Master’'s Degree in Information Management from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. His extensive experience in the textile and apparel industry, including 12 years at Nike
from 1997 to 2009 where he held key positions in operations management and product development, has given
him deep expertise in global brand operations.

Tam Kwok Hung, aged 58, has joined the Group since January 2008 as Vice General Manager in
Merchandising. Currently, he is the Merchandising General Manager of the Group and is responsible for sales
and marketing of the Group. He has over 30 years of experience in apparel industry. Prior to joining the Group,
he worked as Divisional Senior Manager at Li & Fung group in global sourcing for an lItalian brand.

Wong Ying, aged 28, has joined the group since July 2018 and has been appointed as Merchandising General
Manager of the group since July 2024. She is responsible for business development and merchandising affairs
of the Group. She was appointed as Assistant to Business Managing Director from July 2018 to June 2022 and
Chief of Staff from July 2022 to June 2024. Miss Wong graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 2017 and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Business Administration. Prior to joining the Group, Miss Wong
worked as a project manager in a logistic company in Hong Kong.

Woo Man Chi, aged 52, has joined the Group as Financial Controller since May 2005 and has been appointed
as Company Secretary of the Company since September 2005. She is responsible for the accounting, finance
and compliance related functions of the Group. She previously worked in a reputable international accounting
firm, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, in Hong Kong for five years. Prior to joining the Group, she worked in a
manufacturing company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange as Assistant Financial Controller. She
has more than 25 years of experience in accounting and financial management. Ms. Woo holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Accounting from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. She is a practising member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors” and Senior Management’s Biographies (continued)

Yung Ching Yuen, aged 46, has joined the Group since August 2005 and formerly was Assistant Chief Financial
Officer of the Group. She has served as the Investor Relations Director since 2008 and has also been
responsible for the internal control function of the Group since 2021. Prior to joining the Group, she had
worked for an international accounting firm and an international consulting firm, and participated in a number of
IPO projects and audit work for Chinese Mainland, Hong Kong and Taiwan companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Ms. Yung holds a Master’'s degree in Corporate Governance and a Bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a Chartered Secretary and a Chartered Governance Professional.

Yung Chun Wing, aged 52, joined the group as Legal Director in November 2023. He is responsible for the
legal affairs of the Group, including mergers and acquisitions, compliance and corporate risk management. He
has more than 20 years of legal and management experience focusing on corporate M&A, private equity and
funds management. Prior to joining the Company, he held various senior positions within the China Resources
group including as Head of Transaction Management and Chief Operating Officer of Harvest Capital Partners
Limited. Mr. Yung is a qualified solicitor in Hong Kong.



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 and the state of affairs of the Group’s financial position
at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 116 to 224 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK30 cents per ordinary share was paid on 11 December 2023. The Directors
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK8 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to the
Shareholders on the register of members on 30 August 2024. Details are set out in note 11 to the financial
statements.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements is set out below.

Results

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Revenue 4,074,668 4,051,107 3,668,371 3,248,875 3,017,120
Profit before tax 380,779 399,444 363,938 422,386 295,149
Income tax expense (108,746) (98,501) (81,357) (95,651) (68,319)
Profit for the year 272,033 300,943 282,581 326,735 226,830

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 263,510 292,639 274,633 313,659 223,458
Non-controlling interests 8,523 8,304 7,948 13,176 3,372
272,033 300,943 282,581 326,735 226,830
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

Assets and liabilities

As at 31 March

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Non-current assets 1,518,222 1,412,551 1,404,279 1,124,131 1,138,584
Current assets 1,652,265 1,662,196 1,721,123 1,448,506 1,235,763
Current liabilities (1,211,168) (1,241,933) (1,328,430) (956,375) (989,271)
Net current assets 441,097 420,263 392,693 492,131 246,492
Non-current liabilities (324,903) (150,568) (75,283) (65,189) (62,472)
1,634,416 1,682,246 1,721,689 1,551,073 1,322,604

The above summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

The movement in share capital of the Company during the year is set out in note 27 to the financial

statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE

COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’'s listed

securities during the year.



Report of the Directors (continued)

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2024, the Company’'s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to HK$799,739,000. The amount of
HK$799,739,000 includes the Company's share premium account and capital reserve of HK$616,998,000 in
aggregate at 31 March 2024, which may be distributed provided that immediately following the date on which
a dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, sales to the Group’'s five largest customers accounted for approximately 98.7%
of the Group's total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein accounted for
approximately 63.4%.

Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 46.5% of the Group's total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for approximately
14.2%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’'s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's
five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Chung Chi Kit (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Huang Yongbiao

Ms. Chen Fang Mei

Mr. Shih Chih-Hung

Mr. Hu Chia-Ho

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho

Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024)
Ms. Tham Kit Wan

Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong

Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024)
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DlRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Company's articles of association, Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, Mr. Huang
Yongbiao, Mr. Hu Chia-Ho and Ms. Tham Kit Wan will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In accordance with article 86(3) of the
Company’s articles of association, Mr. Sun Yun-Rui, who was appointed in March 2024, shall hold office until
the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from the independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, Ms. Tham Kit Wan, Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong and Mr. Sun
Yun-Rui and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 20 to 24 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

All the independent non-executive directors are appointed for a specific term and are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group’'s emolument policy is formulated based on the performance of individual employees and is
reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group's profitability, the Group may also provide discretionary bonuses to its
employees as an incentive for their contribution to the Group. The primary goal of the emolument policy with
regard to the remuneration packages of the Group’s executive directors is to enable the Group to retain and
motivate executive directors by linking their compensation with performance as measured against corporate
objectives achieved.

The principal elements of the Group’s remuneration packages include basic salaries, discretionary bonuses and
housing benefits.

The Directors’ fees are subject to the Shareholders’ approval and the Board was authorised to fix the Directors’
fee at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.



Report of the Directors (continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, every Director and other officers shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, losses, damages and
expenses which they may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done about the execution of the duties of
their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company had arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers of the Group for the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company (the "Chief Executive”) in the share capital and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

The Company

Number of Percentage of the
shares held Company’s issued

Name of Director Capacity Long position capital
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing Interest in a controlled corporation 72,650,000 13.61
(“Mr. Chung”) (Note 1)
Beneficial owner 19,484,000 3.65
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying Beneficial owner 36,500,800 6.84
Mr. Chung Chi Kit Beneficial owner 8,500,000 1.59
Mr. Huang Yongbiao Interest in a controlled corporation 32,320,000 6.05
(“Mr. Huang") (Note 2)
Beneficial owner 108,000 0.02
Notes:
1. These shares are held by Time Easy Investment Holdings Limited (“Time Easy"), the entire issued share capital of which is held

by Mr. Chung, Executive Director.

2. These shares are held by Excel Skill International Limited (“Excel Skill”), the entire issued share capital of which is held by Mr.
Huang, Executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and chief executive had registered an
interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares and
underlying shares” above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations granted to any of
the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, other than the Directors and the Chief Executive, the following interests of 5% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Number of
ordinary shares Percentage of the
held Company’s issued

Name Capacity Long position capital

Time Easy Beneficial owner 72,650,000 13.61
(Note 1)

Excel Skill Beneficial owner 32,320,000 6.05
(Note 2)

Pou Chen Interest in a controlled corporation 192,000,000 35.96
(Note 3)

Wealthplus Holdings Limited Interest in a controlled corporation 192,000,000 35.96
("Wealthplus”) (Note 3)

Yue Yuen Interest in a controlled corporation 192,000,000 35.96
(Note 3)

Pou Hing Industrial Co. Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation 192,000,000 35.96
("Pou Hing") (Note 3)

Great Pacific Investments Beneficial owner 192,000,000 35.96
Limited (“Great Pacific”) (Note 3)

David Michael Webb Interest in a controlled corporation and 26,730,000 5.00
beneficial owner (Note 4)
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Report of the Directors (continued)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSON’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (continued)

Notes:
1. The entire issued share capital of Time Easy is held by Mr. Chung.
2. The entire issued share capital of Excel Skill is held by Mr. Huang.

3. The 192,000,000 shares of the Company were held by Great Pacific which was wholly-owned by Pou Hing. The entire issued
share capital of Pou Hing was held by Yue Yuen in which Wealthplus and Win Fortune Investments Ltd. (“Win Fortune”) held
an interest of 47.95% and 3.16% respectively. Wealthplus and Win Fortune are in turn wholly-owned by Pou Chen.
Accordingly, Pou Hing, Yue Yuen, Wealthplus, Win Fortune and Pou Chen are all deemed to be interested in the 192,000,000
shares of the Company held by Great Pacific.

4. These 26,730,000 shares of the Company were held as to 11,073,400 shares as beneficial owner and the remaining 15,656,600
shares as interest in a controlled corporation, namely, Preferable Situation Assets Limited, the entire issued share capital of
which is owned by Mr. David Michael Webb.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no person, other than the Directors and the Chief Executive,
whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
at least 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates was interested in, apart from the Group’s business, any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the
Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 33
to the financial statements. Save as mentioned in the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" set out
in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, other connected
transactions are fully exempted from the independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (continued)

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 including the challenges/
uncertainties and the ways to tackle them together with a discussion on the Group’s future development are
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” set out on page 3, pages 4 to 9 and pages 12 to 19 respectively of this annual report.
Description of the risks faced by the Group is set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

Environmental policy and performance

The Group is committed to making contributions to sustainable development in different aspects, including
environmental protection. To ensure compliance with applicable environmental laws, the Group has developed a
comprehensive environmental policy for its operations. During the year under review, the Group had been in
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations of Hong Kong, Chinese Mainland, Indonesia and
Vietnam.

Detailed information regarding the environmental, social and governance (“ESG") practices adopted by the
Group is set out in the ESG Report which will be disclosed in a separate report and published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations
During the year under review, so far as the Company is aware, the Group had complied with all relevant laws
and regulations material to the operations of the Group.

Relationships with employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers and other stakeholders

The ongoing success of the Group is dependent on its stakeholders, including its employees, customers, the
Shareholders and suppliers. The Group regards its employees as important stakeholders and provides them with
competitive remuneration packages and other labour benefits in line with industry practices, a workplace
conducive to occupational health and safety, as well as in-service training on a continued basis.

The Group is committed to forging closer ties with its customers. We also consistently uphold and strengthen
our cooperation with suppliers, while maintaining communications with the Shareholders through, among
others, our corporate website (https://www.eaglenice.com).

The Company communicates with the Shareholders and other stakeholders mainly through: (i) the convening of
annual general meetings which provides an opportunity for direct communication between the Shareholders and
the Board; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual and interim reports and/or circulars in accordance with
the Listing Rules, as well as press releases providing the latest updates on the Group's development; and (iii)
the website of the Company which provides the latest information on the Group.



Report of the Directors (continued)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No significant event of the Group occurred after the end of reporting period and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution of their reappointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman

Hong Kong

11 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in
Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the "CG Code") as its own code
of corporate governance practices. The Company had, throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, complied with
the code provisions set out in Part 2 of the CG Code (the "Code Provisions”) except for the deviations
specified with considered reasons for such deviations as explained in this corporate governance report.

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

a. Board’s Composition & Board Meetings
During the year under review, four board meetings and one general meeting were held. The
composition of the Board and the attendance of each Director at board meetings and general
meeting during the year are set out as follows:

Number of Number of
board meetings general meeting
Name of Director attended/held attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 11
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying (Vice Chairman) 4/4 11
Mr. Chung Chi Kit (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 11
Mr. Huang Yongbiao 4/4 11
Ms. Chen Fang Mei 4/4 11
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung 4/4 11
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho 4/4 11
Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024) 4/4 11
Ms. Tham Kit Wan 4/4 11
Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong 4/4 N1
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024) 0/0 0/0

Biographical details of all Directors are disclosed in the section headed "Directors’ and Senior
Management’'s Biographies” on pages 20 to 24 of this annual report. Save that Mr. Chung Yuk Sing,
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is the father of Mr. Chung Chi Kit, an executive Director,
to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships amongst members of the Board.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

b.

Board Diversity

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity policy since December 2013,
which was revised in March 2023 (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognises and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include and
make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be considered in determining the
optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced appropriately. All Board
appointments are made on merit and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will discuss annually for achieving diversity from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity, skills, cultural and educational background,
professional experience and knowledge. The Nomination Committee will also conduct a review of the
policy periodically which will include an assessment of the effectiveness of the policy and
recommend any proposed changes to rectify identified deficiencies for the approval by the Board.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and considered it to be effective.

Gender Diversity

The Company aims to avoid a single gender Board and will review the gender diversity of the Board
from time to time in accordance with the business development of the Group. The Company
believes the gender diversity of the Board would enhance the business development of the Group
and bring more inspiration to the Board, and hence gender diversity is one of the essential factors
for the Company to select suitable candidate as the Director. As at the date of this corporate
governance report, the Board consists of two female and nine male Directors. The Board considers
that the gender diversity in respect of the Board after taking into account the specific needs of the
Company is currently satisfactory.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following table sets out the
gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including the Board and senior management as at the
date of this corporate governance report:

Female Male
Board 18%(2) 82%(9)
Senior Management 50% (4) 50%(4)
Other employees 79%(11,362) 21%(3,093)
Overall workforce 79%(11,368) 21%(3,106)
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

C.

Gender Diversity (continued)

Currently, the female to male ratio in the overall workforce of the Group is approximately 7.9:2.1
which is in line with the apparel manufacturing industry. The Board considers that the gender
diversity in workforce is currently satisfactory. Further details on the workforce of the Group by
gender can be found in the ESG Report of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

At least one of the independent non-executive directors of the Company (“INEDs") has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10
of the Listing Rules. The Group has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considered all of the INEDs to be
independent pursuant to the factors set out therein.

Each of the INEDs was appointed for a term of three years with a formal letter of appointment
setting out the key terms and conditions of his/her appointment.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, who has been
the Chairman of the Board since 2002, was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
with effect from 30 June 2013. Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, the Board considers that the
present structure will not impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Group as the Board assumes collective responsibility on the decision-making
process of the Company’s business strategies and operation. The principal divisions of the Group's
businesses are managed by different Directors.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management

The Board is collectively responsible for long-term success of the Group and interests of
Shareholders. Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board actively promotes the success of the
Group by directing and supervising its affairs in a responsible and effective manner. The principal
responsibilities of the Board include the following:

° formulation of the Group’s mission, vision and core values and promotion of the Group's
corporate culture;

° formulation, updating and refining of the Group’s strategy and business objectives;

° review and approval of the Group's business plan, major acquisitions and disposals; and

° review of the policies and monitoring the implementations in relation to corporate governance,

internal controls, risk management and sustainability practices.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

f.

Distinctive Roles of the Board and the Management (continued)

The Executive Directors are involved in the day-to-day operations of the Group's businesses and
they, together with the members of the Company's senior management, ensure that the
management is accountable to the Board, and ultimately to the Shareholders. The principal
responsibilities of the senior management include the following:

° running of day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses operation;

° implementation of the Group's business plans and strategies;

° design, implementation and maintenance of appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems; and

o monitoring and assessment of the performance of each business team of the Group.

Delegation by the Board
While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the management
and operations of the Group, in discharging its duties, certain responsibilities are delegated to:

(i) the standing Board committees of the Company namely: the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Each committee’s constitution, powers and
duties are clearly defined by its terms of reference, and the committees are accountable to the
Board;

(i) the Chief Executive Officer, being delegated with the day-to-day management of the businesses
of the Group, is accountable to the Board; and

(i) the senior management team of the Group, being delegated with the responsibilities to deal
with daily operational functions, is answerable to the Board.

The Board regularly reviews its arrangement for delegation of authority to ensure that such
delegation is appropriate in view of the Group's prevailing circumstances and that appropriate
reporting systems are in place.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions, which includes:

° formulating and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

° reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the Directors
and the senior management;

° reviewing and monitoring the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

o formulating, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct, guidelines and compliance manual
applicable to employees and Directors; and

° reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in this Corporate

Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

h.

Corporate Governance Functions (continued)

The Board has delegated its responsibilities of performing corporate governance duties to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee reviews the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance, reports and makes recommendations to the Board regarding matters set out in the
Code Provisions.

Appointment, re-election and removal

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and any Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy)
or until the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of an addition to the
existing Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The appointment of new Directors and nomination of Directors for re-election at annual general
meetings are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. In considering the appointment of
new Directors, the Nomination Committee will assess the candidate according to the criteria set out
in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. In the case of a candidate for an INED, he/she should
also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Sun Yun-Rui, an INED appointed with effect from 8 March 2024, obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 6 February 2024 and confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

Board Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board and conducted review of such mechanisms on an annual basis. All Directors are entitled
to seek, at the Company’'s expense, independent professional advice reasonably necessary for
discharging their duties as Directors.

The Nomination Committee annually assesses the independence of INEDs during their term of
appointment. The Company received from each of INEDs a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmations and the opinion of the
Nomination Committee, the Company considers that all INEDs continue to demonstrate strong
independence and all remain independent.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the mechanisms and considered
them to be effective for the year ended 31 March 2024.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

k.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry
of the directors, the directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code during the year.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against
its Directors and officers.

Continuing professional development

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly appointed Director would
receive an induction package covering the Group’s businesses and the statutory and regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company. The Group also provides briefings and other training to
develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills. The Group continuously updates Directors
on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
Circulars and guidance notes are issued to Directors and senior management to ensure awareness
of corporate governance practices.

During the year, the Directors participated in the following trainings:

Type of Trainings

Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Yuk Sing A C
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying A C
Mr. Chung Chi Kit A, C
Mr. Huang Yongbiao A C
Ms. Chen Fang Mei A B, C
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung A C
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho A C
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho A B, C
Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024) A C
Ms. Tham Kit Wan A B, C
Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong A B, C
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024) A C

A: having training provided by the Company
B: attending seminars/conferences/workshops/forums
C: reading newspapers/journals and updates relating to their profession and director’s responsibilities
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

1. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

n.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of
the Company’s affairs. During the year under review, the Company Secretary had duly complied with
the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

2. BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho, Ms. Tham Kit Wan and
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui. Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Board considers
that each member of the Audit Committee has broad commercial experience and together form a
suitable mix of expertise in the legal and accounting fields and that the composition and members of
the Audit Committee comply with the requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference that sets out the authorities
and duties of the Audit Committee adopted by the Board. The functions of risk management,
internal control and corporate governance were adopted into the terms of reference of Audit
Committee in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee must meet not less than two
times a year with the Company’s external auditor. It meets with the external auditor and the
management of the Group, to ensure that the audit findings are addressed properly. The principal
responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

(i) to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the work performed by the
auditor, their fees and terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor;

(i) to monitor the integrity of the Group's financial statements and ensure objectivity and credibility
of financial reporting;

(iii)  to review the effectiveness and adequacy of the Company’'s financial reporting system, internal
control systems and associated procedures, risk management and corporate governance
matters;

(iv)  to review the adequacy of the resources, qualifications, experience, training programs and budget
of the staff of the Group’s financial reporting, accounting and internal audit functions; and

(v)  to ensure the compliance with the applicable accounting principles and practices, and the Listing
Rules.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held three meetings including two meetings with the external
auditor without the presence of the executive Directors and the management. The attendance of the
individual member of the Audit Committee at the meetings is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024) 2/2
Ms. Tham Kit Wan 3/3
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024) 11

The following is a summary of the major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year:

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

review of the annual report and results announcement of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2023, with a recommendation to the Board for approval;

review of the external auditor’'s independence and their report, with a recommendation to the
Board for the re-appointment of the external auditor by the Shareholders at its 2023 annual
general meeting;

review of the interim report and results announcement of the Company for the six months ended
30 September 2023, with a recommendation to the Board for approval,

consideration of audit and non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s financial reporting system, internal
control systems and associated procedures, risk management and corporate governance
matters through the management and an independent internal audit service provider (the
"Independent Professional Firm"”) who was engaged to perform the aforesaid work on a half-
yearly basis and no material findings had been identified;

review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget;

review of the audit fees payable to the external auditor for the year ended 31 March 2023, with
a recommendation to the Board for approval;

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

20z 1oday |enuuy

—&_

B & Fhd



G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 30IN 319V3

=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

S
N

20z Hoday |enuuy

—&_

B & Fhd

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
(viii) review of continuing connected transactions and connected transactions;

(ix) determination and review of the Company’s current corporate governance policy and practice;

(x)  review of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and other legal and regulatory
requirements; and

(xi)  review of the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, for the corporate governance functions, the Independent Professional Firm with
professional staff in possession of relevant expertise was engaged to perform the aforesaid work
and no material findings had been identified.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Chung Yuk Sing and
two INEDs, namely, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho and Mr. Sun Yun-Rui. Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho is the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee.

The main functions of the Remuneration Committee are to assist the Board in establishing a formal
and transparent procedure for setting policy on Directors’ and senior management’'s remuneration
and to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management (i.e. the model described in the Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) was
adopted) as well as on the remuneration of INEDs by reference to the Company’s operation results,
individual performance and prevailing market rate.

The committee meets at least once a year. During the year under review, two committee meetings
were held. The attendance of the individual member of the Remuneration Committee at the meeting
is set out below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing 2/2
Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024) 2/2
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024) 0/0



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

b.

Remuneration Committee (continued)
The following is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year:

(i) recommendation of the remuneration package of the newly appointed INED to the Board for
approval,

(i) recommendation to the Board on the payment of discretionary bonuses to the executive Directors
and the senior management in respect of the interim results of the Company for the six
months ended 30 September 2023; and

(il) assessment of the performance and review of the remuneration packages of the Executive
Directors and senior management.

Pursuant to the Code Provision E.1.5, details of the annual remuneration of the members of the
senior management (excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as follows:

Number of

senior

Emolument band management
Nil to HK$1,000,000 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1
8

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note
8 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, namely, Mr. Chung Yuk Sing and two
INEDs, namely, Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho and Mr. Sun Yun-Rui. Mr. Chung Yuk Sing is the Chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

The main functions of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to identify individuals who are suitably qualified to become the Directors, and to
assess the independence of the INEDs. After considering the independence and qualifications of
nominees, the Nomination Committee makes recommendations to the Board so as to ensure that all
nominations are fair and transparent. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for making
recommendations on the appointment or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning of
the Directors, in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

S
w

20z 1oday |enuuy

—&_

B & Fhd



G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 30IN 319V3

=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

S
=

20z Hoday |enuuy

—&_

B & Fhd

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

C.

Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee meets at least once every year and additional meetings may be
convened by the chairman of the committee as and when necessary. During the year ended 31
March 2024, the Nomination Committee met once and the following is a summary of work
performed by the Nomination Committee:

(i) assessment of the independence of all INEDs;

(i) review of the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board;

(i) review of the Board Diversity Policy and its implementation and effectiveness;

(iv) recommendation of succession planning to the Board; and

(v)  nomination of suitable candidates to replace the roles of Mr. Lu Chi Chant, INED and member
of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee, who resigned on 8

March 2024.

The attendance of individual member of the Nomination Committee at the meetings is set out
below:

Number of

meetings

Committee Members attended/held
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing (Chairman) 1Al
Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho 11
Mr. Lu Chi Chant (resigned with effect from 8 March 2024) 11
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui (appointed with effect from 8 March 2024) 0/0

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to the Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint
Directors to fill casual vacancies. When the Nomination Committee considers it appropriate, it invites
Board members or any person to nominate candidates and makes final recommendations for the
Board's consideration and approval.

Selection Criteria
When assessing and selecting candidates for directorships, the members of the Nomination
Committee shall consider the following factors:

(i) age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and educational qualifications,
background and other personal qualities of the candidate;



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

C.

Nomination Committee (continued)

Selection Criteria (continued)

(ii)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

effect on the Board’'s composition and diversity;

commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry out his/her duties. In
this regard, the number and nature of offices held by the candidate in public companies or
organisations, and other executive appointments or significant commitments will be
considered;

potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is selected,

independence of the candidate;

in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an INED, the number of years he/she has already
served the Company; and

other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee on a case by case basis.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be decisive and exhaustive. The Nomination
Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

Appointment of Directors

(i)

(ii)

The Nomination Committee identifies individual(s) suitably qualified to become Board members,
having due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the
independence of the proposed INED as appropriate;

The Nomination Committee may use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate the
candidate(s), which may include personal interviews, background checks, presentations or
written submissions by the candidate(s) and third party references;

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

The Board considers the individual(s) recommended by the Nomination Committee, having due
regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy; and

The Board confirms the appointment of the individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends the
individual(s) to stand for election at a general meeting. Individual(s) appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the next general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders, whereby individual(s) appointed as an
addition to the existing Board will hold office until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders at the next annual
general meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

2. BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

C.

Nomination Committee (continued)
Nomination Procedures (continued)

Re-election of Directors
(i) The Nomination Committee considers each retiring Director, having due regard to the Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy, and assesses the independence of each retiring INED;

(i) The Nomination Committee makes recommendation(s) to the Board;

(iii)  The Board considers each retiring Director recommended by the Nomination Committee, having
due regard to the Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

(iv) The Board recommends the retiring Directors to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Company’s articles of association; and

(v)  The Shareholders approve the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting.

3. AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements with the assistance of the
accounting team in accordance with statutory requirements and appropriate financial reporting
standards for each financial period, which shall give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group and of the consolidated financial performance and cash flows for such
financial period. During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue in business. Accordingly, the Board has prepared the financial statements of the
Group on a going concern basis. All the Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about the auditor’s reporting responsibilities
on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 53
to 57 of this annual report.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of risk management and internal controls of the
Company and for reviewing its effectiveness through the Audit Committee. Such system is aimed to
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud. The
Board has delegated to the management the design, implementation and ongoing assessment of
such internal control systems, while the Board through the Audit Committee oversees and reviews
the adequacy and effectiveness of relevant internal controls and risk management procedures that
have been in place.

The Board is committed to the management, identification and monitoring of risks (including risks
related to ESG) associated with its business activities and has implemented an effective and sound
risk management and internal controls systems to manage the risk associated with its businesses
and operations. The systems comprise the following phases:

° Identification: identify sources of risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the
achievement of objectives

o Evaluation: analyse and evaluate the likelihood and impact of risks

° Management: consider the risk responses and ensure effective communication to the Board and

ongoing monitoring of the residual risks

The Group has established comprehensive policies, procedures and measures in areas of operational,
financial, compliance and risk controls, which are updated or reviewed on a regular and timely basis,
including the following:

(i) Inside Information Policy
Inside information policy of the Company has been formulated to regulate the handling and
dissemination of inside information in order to ensure potential inside information being
captured and confidentiality of such information being maintained until consistent and timely
disclosure are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The procedures regulate the
handling and dissemination of inside information including:

° designated reporting channels for reporting potential inside information;

° restriction on access of information;

° signing of confidentiality agreements when necessary; and

° close monitoring of potential inside information by the management and proper disclosure

made timely to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules when necessary.

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

& — vz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd



G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 30IN 319V3

=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

S
<)

& — tz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b.

Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Whistleblowing Policy

Whistleblowing policy of the Company has been formulated for the Group's employees and
business partners to report any suspected or actual improprieties. An email account has been
set up for this specific purpose. The Audit Committee will investigate the reported cases in a
confidential and timely manner and report the results of investigations with appropriate
follow-up action to the Board.

Anti-Corruption Policy

Anti-corruption policy of the Company has been formulated to safeguard against corruption and
bribery. The Group has established reporting channels that are open and available for
employees and business partners of the Group to report any suspected corruption and bribery.
Audit Committee is responsible for investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate
measures.

Regular Reports and Meetings

Monthly management and financial reports of the Group’s business teams are prepared for the
Board's review. Executive directors hold periodic meetings with senior finance and operational
management teams to review and discuss the business performance, and to address
deficiencies of any key issues on a timely basis.

Operation/Compliance Guidelines

All major operations are governed by standard operating procedures/compliance manuals with
authorization matrix and supplemented by written policies and procedures tailored to the
respective business units and support functions.

Review and assessment of risk management and internal control systems during the year under
review were performed by:

(i)

Independent Professional Firm

The Company engaged the Independent Professional Firm to perform internal audit function for
the year, which comprised, inter alia, enterprise risk assessment and reviews on the internal
control system of the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls. The
review plan was approved by the Audit Committee and the Board. Based on the risk
assessments and the reviews of the internal control systems of the Group conducted by the
Independent Professional Firm for the year, no significant risk and control deficiency was
identified. The relevant assessment and review reports have been considered by the Audit
Committee and the Board for assessing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems.



Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

b. Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Management

The management, responsible for the design, implementation and ongoing assessment of risk
management and internal control systems, reported and confirmed to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of such systems. The Board through the management had
conducted an annual review of the risk management and internal control systems (which cover
all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls) of the Group to
comply with the Code Provision D.2.1.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions as well as ESG performance and reporting to comply with the Code
Provision D.2.2.

External Auditor

The Group’s external auditor performs independent statutory audits of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. The external auditor also reports to the Audit Committee any significant
weaknesses in the Group's internal control, if any, identified during the course of the audit. No
significant weaknesses in the Group's internal control systems were reported from the external
auditor.

Based on the reports prepared by management and the Independent Professional Firm, and also
taking into account the results of the audit conducted by the external auditors, the Audit Committee
and the Board considered that for the year under review:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

the risk management, internal controls and accounting systems of the Group are designed to
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that material assets are protected, business
risks attributable to the Group are identified and monitored, material transactions are executed
in accordance with management’s authorization and the financial statements are reliable for
publication;

the risk management and internal controls systems of the Group have been effectively
implemented;

there is an effective on-going process in place for identifying, evaluating and managing significant
potential risks faced by the Group; and

the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the Group's
accounting and financial reporting and internal audit functions, as well as ESG performance and
reporting, are adequate.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

3. AUDIT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c. Auditor’'s Remuneration
For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fee payable to the Group’s auditor, Ernst & Young, is set out

as follows:
Amount of
Services rendered fee payable
HK$'000
Audit services 4,201
Non-audit services 110
4,311

4. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

a. Procedures for the Shareholders to convene Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM")
The Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company can make
a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary to convene an EGM pursuant to article
58 of the Company’s articles of association. The written requisition must state the objects of the
meeting, and must be signed by the relevant Shareholder(s) and deposited at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

b. Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board
The Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the
Investor Relations Director and deposit at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
or by e-mail to ir@eaglenice.com.

c. Putting forward proposal at general meeting
There are no provisions under the Company's articles of association or the Companies Law of the
Cayman lIslands regarding procedures for the Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as Director. The Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition or the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a Director
which is available on the website of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

4. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

d.

Dividend Policy

The Company intends to maintain a balance between meeting the expectations of the Shareholders
and retaining adequate capital for development and operation of the Company’s business. According
to the dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”), in deciding whether to declare or
recommend a dividend, the Board shall consider the following factors:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

the Group's operating results, actual and expected financial performance;

the financial position of the Group including debt-to-equity ratio, return on equity and related
financial information;

retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans;

general economic and financial conditions, business cycle of the Group and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and position

of the Company;

any restrictions imposed by the contracting parties of the Group on the payment of dividends;
and

any other factors the Board may deem relevant and appropriate.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the
Board, and any declaration of final and special dividend will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and there is no assurance that
a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.
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Corporate Governance Report (continued)

5. INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy since March 2012 to promote effective
communication with shareholders and to solicit and understand the views of its shareholders and
stakeholders. The Board has reviewed the implementation of the policy during the year and considered
that the policy is effective with the measures disclosed below.

The Company has an ongoing dialogue with shareholders through various communication channels as
follows:

(i) publication of notices, announcements, circulars, interim reports and annual reports on the Company’s
website;

(i) holding of annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company; and

(i) Investor Relations Director to organise various investor relations programs (including briefing meetings
with the analysts) in order to enhance the transparency of the Company and communication with the
Shareholders and investors.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any changes to its articles of association. An
up-to-date version of the articles of association of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Shareholders may refer to the articles of association of the
Company for further details of the rights of the Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Chung Yuk Sing
Chairman
Hong Kong, 11 June 2024



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

EY::

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 116 to 224, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill was HK$104,076,000
as at 31 March 2024. The Group performs an
impairment test for goodwill on an annual basis. The
impairment test is based on the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Management's assessment process involves
significant judgements and assumptions, including
those related to the expected future cash flow
forecasts, and the discount rate and terminal growth
rate applied, which are sensitive to expected future

Our audit procedures included, among others,
involving our valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used
by the Group, in particular, the discount rate and
terminal growth rate. We compared the forecasts
prepared by management with the historical
performance of the cash-generating units and the
business development plan. We also assessed the
Group's disclosures of goodwill in the consolidated
financial statements.

market conditions and the cash-generating units’ actual
performance.

The significant accounting judgements and estimates
and disclosures of impairment testing of goodwill are
included in notes 3 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.



Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

To the shareholders of Eagle Nice (International) Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Law Fu Yuen, Patrick.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong

11 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

= A e
RElER
Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_FE_NWE=ZHF=+—HIFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
REVENUE = 1N 5 4,074,668 4,051,107
Cost of sales fHE A (3,325,976) (3,295,189
Gross profit EF 748,692 755,918
Other income and gains, net HEMBRARIKE 558 5 19,855 22,722
Selling and distribution expenses #HE KD HEAX (27,949) (34,189)
Administrative expenses THAX (308,163) (294,840)
Other operating expenses HEERX (8,177) (28,536)
Finance costs BB K 6 (43,479) (21,631)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B % B0 35 A 7 380,779 399,444
Income tax expense FiemixX 10 (108,746) (98,501)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEA 272,033 300,943
Attributable to: &1L
Owners of the Company P N/NSIEZE SN 263,510 292,639
Non-controlling interests EEEEEED 8,523 8,304
272,033 300,943
EARNINGS PER SHARE AARBEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS EiaESRET
OF THE COMPANY 12
Basic E=9/N HK49.3 cents HK54.8 cents
49371l 54,8781l
Diluted s HK49.3 cents HK54.8 cents
49 3%l 54 8781l




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GoEEBER

Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_E_WE=ZF=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—EBoE ZEI=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEA 272,033 300,943
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE Hitt2EXH
Other comprehensive expense that will not REZEABARNAIEFIEE
be reclassified to profit or loss in EaWEMe2EXE
subsequent periods:
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EREEAGEZEEER (1,117) (3,467)
Other comprehensive expense that may be RE®IABIEETF2EE
reclassified to profit or loss in BEEmWEMeEmIH

subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of MEEBINEBZERER

foreign operations (83,874) (102,047)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR FEHftt2HEXH
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (BHIBRRIE) (84,991) (105,514)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR S E2MmIRE4#ERE
THE YEAR 187,042 195,429

Attributable to: JEAL -

Owners of the Company ENVNEIEZ N 181,303 190,675
Non-controlling interests R REED 5,739 4,754
187,042 195,429
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FaMBERRR

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/FA=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MOE B =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% F#ET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENEE 13 1,018,153 998,270
Right-of-use assets ERAEESE 14(a) 351,961 263,657
Goodwill Bk 16 104,076 104,076
Intangible assets BREESE 17 2,116 4,937
Deposits & 15 41,916 41,611
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 1,518,222 1,412,551
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories 7B 18 704,869 677,184
Accounts receivable & K BR =X 19 324,572 345,113
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfHIE K&K
receivables EMERRIE 15 128,487 123,369
Tax recoverable o] W [o] #7 I8 3,195 —
Restricted bank balance =R H R 1T 45 B8R 20 1,084 1,143
Cash and bank balances HE& RIRITHER 20 490,058 515,387
Total current assets M EEHEE 1,652,265 1,662,196
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE
Accounts payable & 1 BR 3R 21 306,698 375,744
Accrued liabilities and other ExtatEkEM
payables F& F :IE 23 164,851 218,014
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it EEITE R 24 651,074 544,323
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 3,366 10,456
Tax payable F& {1+ 1R 18 85,179 93,396
Total current liabilities nBaERE 1,211,168 1,241,933
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEERE 441,097 420,263
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#ENRKE & &
LIABILITIES 1,959,319 1,832,814
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREERE
Pension scheme obligation BAREFEIEE 25 20,387 22,113
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it B IRITE K 24 258,390 78,500
Lease liabilities HEEE 14(b) 317 1,347
Deferred tax liabilities RIERBEBEE 26 45,809 48,608
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEEE 324,903 150,568
Net assets BEFE 1,634,416 1,682,246




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

SEMBERAR(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=/F=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Fff 5% T#ET THT
EQUITY = E:S
Equity attributable to owners of XA GHEE AEHIEL
the Company

Issued capital ERITERA 27 5,338 5,338
Reserves #E 28 1,570,545 1,624,114
1,575,883 1,629,452
Non-controlling interests R RER 58,533 52,794
Total equity BEAREE 1,634,416 1,682,246

CHUNG YUK SING
H#HEH
Director

EF

CHEN HSIAO YING
BRI/
Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A B 424
wh H *E E &z Eb ﬁ
Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_FE_NWE=ZHF=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAREEAEE
Share Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued  premium Capital surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
B&fT 1 BE Ex FER
B&* HEk EAEE BURER  OREEE BEERA #i  RRER 5t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER TER
(Note 28)  (Note 28)
(Wate8) (W28
At 1 April 2022 RIB-ZZE£NB-H 5,338 573910 (229) 104,870 92,653 897,107 1,673,649 48,040 1,721,689
Profit for the year FE&ET - - - - - 292,639 292,639 8,304 300,943
Other comprehensive expense for the year: EEEMLARY ¢
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EERAGAZEEEE - - - - - (3.467) (3.467) - 3,467)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign REBMBZERER
operations - - - - (98,497) - (98,497) (3,550) (102,047)
Total comprehensive income/lexpense) for EELANG/ (X B8
the year - - - - (98,497 289,172 190,675 4,754 195,429
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRTEERBHEE - - - 13219 - (13219) - - -
Final 2022 dividend ZEIZERBRE " - - - - - (74,732) (74,732) - (74,732)
Interim 2023 dividend ZBIZERHRE 11 - - - - = (160,140)  (160,140) - (160,140)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZZ£ZR=1+-H 5,338 573,910* (229 118,089* (5,844)*  938188* 1,629,452 52,794 1,682,246
At 1 April 2023 RZBZZ%#MA-H 5,338 573,910 (229) 118,089 (5,844) 938,188 1,629,452 52,794 1,682,246
Profit for the year EEEA = - - - - 263,510 263,510 8523 272,033
Other comprehensive expense for the year: EEEMLARL
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans EERAMAZEERE = = = = = (1,117) (1,117) - (1,117)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign REBNEBZERER
operations = = = = (81,090) = (81,090) (2,784) (83,874)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for FELENG/(XH) BB
the year = = = = (81,090) 262,393 181,303 5,739 187,042
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve BRTLERBHE = = - 17,848 - (17,848) - - -
Special 2023 dividend ZRIZERRE 1 - - = = = (32,028)  (32,028) - (32,028)
Final 2023 dividend “RIZERBRE 11 - = = = - (42,704)  (42,704) = (42,704)
Interim 2024 dividend R mERERE 11 - = = = - (160,140)  (160,140) - (160,140)
At 31 March 2024 RIBZMEZR=+-H 5,338 573,910* (229)*  135937* (86,934)*  947,861* 1,575,883 58533 1,634,416
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZEREREORBRIANGEVBRARNGEHE

HK$1,570,545,000 (2023: HK$1,624,114,000)
statement of financial position.

in the consolidated

1,670,545,000%7T (ZFE =% : 1,624,114,000

BT °



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_E_WE=ZF=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_ME s =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% T#ET THET
CASH FLOWS FROM REKEEXBZHERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 5 51 & Fl 380,779 399,444
Adjustments for: B TEHFERE
Bank interest income RITF BN 5 (5,502) (3,806)
Finance costs B E A 6 43,479 21,631
Depreciation of property, plant ME BERIEITE
and equipment 7 99,355 97,585
Depreciation of right-of-use FRESENS
assets 7 19,669 19,378
Amortisation of intangible mEEEEN
assets 7 2,821 2,821
Loss on disposal and write-off HERMEEYE - BE R
of items of property, plant HREEEEBEE FE
and equipment, net 7 341 2,063
Income derived from financial BAFEFANBENESHM
assets at fair value through BEMSKE
profit or loss 7 (2,264) (1,543)
538,678 537,573
Decrease/(increase) in inventories TE &R, (H0) (27,685) 51,778
Decrease in accounts receivable & I BE 2R 20,541 48,730
Decrease/(increase) in FEMRIE  RERkHEMEK
prepayments, deposits and SIER D (g )
other receivables (5,118) 15,421
Increase/(decrease) in accounts  FETBRERIE AN, (G -)
payable (69,046) 76,110
Decrease in accrued liabilities and FEEt & & & E 1 fE 4 718
other payables o (53,163) (74,272)
Decrease in pension scheme BAEFEIEEHE D
liabilities (1,603) (626)
Settlement of pension scheme HERAKEEEET
liabilities (28) (16)
Increase/(decrease) in a restricted 2[R #l $8 17 45 8%
bank balance #m, Crl) 59 (526)
Exchange realignment BE 0 3 22 (6,808) (8,267)
Cash generated from operations &EE4AZRE 395,827 645,905
Interest paid EMFE (43,479) (21,631)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENMEBHER (40,172) (17,369)
Overseas tax paid BB RIE (82,903) (51,650)
Net cash flows from operating REREEBZ
activities Rense#E 229,273 555,255
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

SeRERER(E)
Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_E_WE=ZHF=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_ME S =F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% T#ET THET
CASH FLOWS FROM REKRETBZHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of items HEYE MEKREEER
of property, plant and Fri8 RIE F 5
equipment, net 11,852 1,321
Purchases of items of property, HEEYWZE KEKRHEER
plant and equipment (131,744) (105,696)
Purchases of leasehold land EEHEHE LM 14(a) (119,618) —
Interest received B W F 2 5,502 3,806
Income derived from financial BAFEFANEBETEN
assets at fair value through ETMEEMSKED
profit or loss 2,264 1,543
Asset acquisition BEEWE = (562,492)
Increase in non-current portion of JETEHER 7 3% & 1 N
deposits (39,953) (41,611)
Net cash flows used in investing FARKREZE Z
activities ReRhE#E (271,697) (193,129)
CASH FLOWS FROM REMETBHZRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Drawdown/(repayment) of bank  1E({E:&)RITEFFE
loans, net 287,102 (27,393)
Dividends paid EMEE (234,872) (234,872)
Principal portion of lease HERBEAEHD
payments (9,686) (9,558)
Net cash flows from/(used in) xE/ (BR)RMEEEZ
financing activities HEne R E 42,544 (271,823)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RE&ERBRE£ZEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS EhnEE 120 90,303
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzRekREEEER
beginning of year 515,387 455,841
Effect of foreign exchange rate  FEER& &) v £ £ % (H
changes, net (25,449) (30,757)
CASH AND CASH FRZEERFAEEHEHEE
EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
YEAR 490,058 515,387




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
BARERER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2024
BE_E_WE=ZFA=+—HIFE

2024 2023

—EME —_E =45

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Ffs 5% FET FET

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HERBEE£EEERAZ

CASH AND CASH BRI

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE KRIRITHEER 20 454,776 370,250
Non-pledged time deposits with REESRK/REIEHH

original maturity of less than THBe=EAN

three months when acquired EIRETCHER 20 36,366 146,280
Less: Restricted bank balance 2R EIER AT 4 R 20 (1,084) (1,143)
Cash and cash equivalents as mEReRERFABZEE

stated in the consolidated kREEMEER

statement of cash flows 490,058 515,387
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NOTES T0 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/FA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated

the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.
The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Units 0902-0903 and 0905-0906, 9/F, Tower
B, Regent Centre, 70 Ta Chuen Ping Street, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Group's principal activities are manufacture and

ARREEEH

AKRNBANRFEASEHSTEMBRIZBERA
in the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of B o A A B 5 it #¥ = B 4k AR Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman
Islands * A AR ZEELEMUMUNE
BN AR EEHIOGEER P OBEA
1£0902-0903E &% 0905-0906 F °

FEEZIEEBREEREEEHR

Principal activities

ETERB

Properties and investment
holding
REVERRERR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREBRERAR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHRERKR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

LEREREBRERAR

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHREREK

trading of sportswear and garments. R °
Information about subsidiaries MEBARZER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as ARNBEENBLAEFBUT -
follows:
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ equity attributable
registration and Issued share/paid-up lt\o_the Company
business registered capital FAE I REE DL
Name I B&1TRiz/ 2024 2023
Ex BRREXE BEFMEE el El T =4
Eagle Nice (EAG) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2; 100 100
EX(EXEE)ERLAF B Non-voting deferred HK$10,000
(Note (a)) (2023: Ordinary HK$2;
Non-voting deferred HK$10,000)
LER2ETT
R ERRIER10,0008 T
(k@) (2B =% :
LBRET CEREBELR
10,0003 7T)
WECLBE) RKRERAE The People’s Republic of  US$23,500,000 100 100
("YM (Shantou)”) (Note (b)) China (“PRC")/Chinese (2023: US$23,500,000)
(M CLEE) ) (M EEb) Mainland 23,500,000% 7T
hEA\RETE (Z%/Z =4 :23,500,000% 7T)
([RE])/FEKRE
Eagle Nice Development Limited Hong Kong HK$1 (2023: HK$1) 100 100
WEZRRERBERQA ] BT (ZRZ=F (BT
Maitex (EAG) Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100
FH(EXE®BERAA 5E (2023: HK$1,000)
1,0008 7T (ZB =4 1,000 7T)
BEREROHRERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland HK$40,000,000 100 100
("Maitex PRC") (Note (b)) HE/ REKE (2023: HK$40,000,000)
(MExRRE]) (M Eb) 40,000,0003 7T
(ZFZ =4 :40,000,0003 7T)
HIBEEERRERAE PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 100,000,000 80 80

(“Hubei Dongneng”) (Note (c))
(MA@ aE ) (M E(c))

FE R E AR

(2023: RMB100,000,000)
A R #100,000,0007%
(ZBZ=%:
A R #100,000,0007T)

Manufacture and trading of
sportswear and garments

SEREEEHREREK



CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

1.

Information about subsidiaries (continuead)

Place of
incorporation/
registration and

Issued share/paid-up

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024

—EF-mEZAZ+—H

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

rEIREEER @

MEBABZER ®)

business registered capital A AE A E O b

Name I E&TRZ 2024 2023  Principal activities

E=1 BRRERME BREAMES bl R _=F FEER

Pro Kingtex Vietnam Co., Limited Vietnam US$7,800,000 100 100  Manufacture and trading of

(21 (2023: US$7,800,000) sportswear and garments
7,800,000% 7T HERBEREDHRERMK
(ZFZ =% :7,800,000%75)

% (P HRERAR PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB35,000,000 80 80  Manufacture and trading of
("EN (Jingmen)”) (Note (c)) HE/ REKE (2023: RMB35,000,000) sportswear and garments
(=GP D (MEE(C)) A R #35,000,0007C HERBEREDHREREK

(ZBZ=F:
A R #35,000,0007T)

ERBERMERERAA PRC/Chinese Mainland US$4,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("Hung Eagle Garment”) (Note (b)) R E A (2023: US$4,000,000) sportswear and garments
(TBREM]) (M b)) 4,000,000% 7 FEREEEBRERAR

(ZZZ=% :4,000,000%7T)

P.T. Eagle Nice Indonesia (“EN Indonesia”) Indonesia US$32,000,000 100 100  Manufacture and trading of

([ExeEel) Z1)=1 (2023: US$32,000,000) sportswear and garments
32,000,000% 7 FEREEEBRERAR
(ZZZ=% :32,000,000%7T)

Ex (EE) #XERAH PRC/Chinese Mainland US$28,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("EN (Yifeng)") (Note (b)) R B K BE (2023: US$28,000,000) sportswear and garments
(TR=(E2))) (b)) 28,000,000% 7T FEREEEBRERAR

(ZFZ=% :28,000,000%7T)
P.T. Gelindo Garmentama (“PGG") Indonesia IDR86,141,155,750 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
(TPGG D) Z1)=1 (2023: IDR86,141,155,750) sportswear and garments
86,141,155,750E0 B /& FEREEEBRERAR
(ZRZ=F
86,141,155,750E0 B /&)

BEREBHRRERAE PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 18,000,000 100 100  Properties holding
("Guangdong Dalian") (Note (b)) FE HEIAE (2023: RMB18,000,000) HAEWE
(TEERES ) (b)) A R #:18,000,0007T

(ZBZ=F
A K#18,000,0007T)

Bx(@LRKXERAF PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB18,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
("EN (Foshan)”) (Note (b)) FRE B K B (2023: RMB18,000,000) sportswear and garments
(TS () ) (kb)) A K#18,000,0007T LEREEEHRERAK

(ZRZ=F
A K #18,000,0007T)

Beyond Top (EAG) Limited (Formerly named  British Virgin Islands US$1,000,000 100 100  Investment holding
as Beyond Top Co., Ltd) (“Beyond Top") REHBREE (2023: US$1,000,000) REER
(Note (d)) 1,000,000% 7T
(18 ABeyond Top Co., Ltd.) (ZF =% :

(T Beyond Top |) (HfzE(d)) 1,000,000 7T)

Eagle Nice Vietnam Company Limited Vietnam US$6,500,000 100 100  Manufacture and trading of
("Eagle Nice Vietnam") (Note (d)) (2 (2023: US$6,500,000) sportswear and garments
([ Eagle Nice Vietnam 1) (KfzE(d)) 6,500,000 7T SEREEEBHRERBK

(ZBZ=F:
6,500,000% 7T)
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEER

W& (&)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(c)

The non-voting deferred shares carry no rights to dividends,
no rights to attend or vote at general meetings and no rights
to receive any surplus assets in a return of capital in a
winding-up (other than the nominal amount paid up or
credited as paid-up on such shares, after the sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 per ordinary share has been
distributed to the holders of the ordinary shares of the
company in such winding-up).

YM (Shantou), Maitex PRC, Hung Eagle Garment, EN (Yifeng),
Guangdong Dalian and EN (Foshan) are registered as wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law.

Hubei Dongneng and EN (Jingmen) are registered as limited
liability companies under PRC law.

On 1 May 2022, the Group acquired Beyond Top with limited
liability, and together with its only wholly-owned subsidiary,
Eagle Nice Vietnam. Further details of this acquisition are
included in note 29 to the financial statement.

All of the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

The above table lists the principal subsidiaries of the

Company which,

in the opinion of the directors,

principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of
the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

rEIREEER @

MBARZER (&)
Fff 5%
(a) EREREERTEEFERERE HF

REAEREGLERE  THEETSER
BEARESTANGBEE(BERER
& 38 f% 42 22100,000,000,000,0007 JT 73" Ik
FAAEERFEEAR BHEERNDZHE
FNRIIESRNEERS)

HECHER)  BRIFH BREE Ex
(BE) BEREBRRER (L) ARESD
EEEERZIBBELE-

WAL EYBE K I 5 (FIFT) BRI o BUA R
MzBREERT -

RZB__FAB—H AEEKE
Beyond TopBREAAEERMEE—H 2
& BN E]Eagle Nice Vietnam o AKX
B EHNMBERERRME2 -

LR BETENBRARABEARABER

5o

ERINEARARBDEEWBLE  HEEE
REBR ZFRAHAEEFNEERE
FEUBHAEBEEFEZIETER
2 REERRDBR  HINEMHEAR
EREEREBRTTR -



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2024. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing
rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company
has less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other

vote holders of the investee;
(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including
goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises
the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year's financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two

Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MESRRWE(R)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs
that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity's financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note
2.4 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of
any items in the Group’'s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. Since the Group's approach and
policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (continued)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it
no longer applies to transactions that give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred
tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable
profit is available) and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences arising from these
transactions. The amendments did not have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a
mandatory temporary exception from the
recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes
arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the
affected entities to help users of the financial
statements better understand the entities’
exposure to Pillar income taxes,
including the disclosure of current tax related
to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is
effective and the disclosure of known or
reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two
periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect.
The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall
within the scope of the Pillar Two model
rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.

rules

Two

income taxes in
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current (the “2020
Amendments )" 4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)"

Amendments to
HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022

Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation
of Financial Statements  — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address
an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's
interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a
liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice
versa.

The Group is in the process of making an
assessment of the impact of these revised HKFRSs
upon initial application and is not yet in a position
to state whether these revised HKFRSs would have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a
business when the acquired set of activities and
assets includes an input and a substantive process
that together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2. a-'l'ﬁ%’ﬁ%‘

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued) 24 EXGHBESE)
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Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the
acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the
net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain
on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 March. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain
or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the
relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for
the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=H=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level T — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for

which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories and financial assets), the
asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’'s or cash-generating unit's value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit
for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it
can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
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(continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each
reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss
is credited to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(il) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of

the Group;

or
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or
member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

is a

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
the income statement in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates
used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 50 years
Leasehold Over the shorter of the
improvements lease terms and 20%
Plant and machinery 10% to 20%
Furniture, fixtures, 20%
equipment and motor
vehicles
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the income statement in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sale proceeds and the carrying amount of
the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

KR @
24 EXEHEE®E)

WE BERRERNTE &)

BRI 43 - MR R sk 2 A
FHAR  ZEBZHARE R
DPREBEEENE  MAIMLIFD
BIITE - MEREE IERFHAR
FETERRIVNREVBEERE
B & AEH AR (@A)

ME BERRKBEEBENSE
ERNEMEZELSD  REEHE
HEMRANHEZEERNTELERRK
AEE ) 2 I Bl BREE SR o R B BREERR
EEFEARDRERZIHERNR
BEEZRE REREELER
SREFREAREEMEENZER
RERKmRED -

EREIBRERBRARBEMEREESGEN
fR-BFAFINE-EBIERRT
NRAREEMDEEYE BEX
RENEEER -

BREEE (BERI)
BRENSNELEERRANETY
REtE - EBEHPRSHNERLE
ERARBEENATE BEE
ENTERERDAH AR ER
PREVML - BHAIRRNEREEHER
A EAREFEREHE YREHR
ETRBEEFRRERIEES
HE BHRNETLEESHEHER
%%ﬁiﬁsz & B4 B BE R

EITHET -

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

S
w

& — vz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. FEBERw
24 BABHBE®

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(continued)

Customer relationship is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful life of 6 years.

Backlog is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of 1 year.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that
contains a lease component and a non-lease
component, the Group adopts the practical
expedient not to separate the non-lease component
and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease component (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a
single lease component.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of
lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold land
Plant

20 to 60 years
3 to 6 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or
the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the
present value of lease payments to be made
over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also
include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or
a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g. a
change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of machinery and equipment (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option). It also applies
the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases of office equipment
and laptop computers that are considered to
be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair
value through profit or loss.
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2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
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Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's
contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing them. With
the exception of accounts receivable that do not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Accounts
receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)
The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and
selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are carried in the statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised
in the income statement.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on the
equity investments are also recognised as other
income in the income statement when the right of
payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in
full without material delay to a third party
under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)
When the Group has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has entered
into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if,
and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that
are integral to the contractual terms.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

B EHEE @

EXEHBR#E

SIBRIEE = MEEE)
EAEBEEEEKENZELSERRN
BREESERNENEBARITIEAR
H 2 HEREREZEEFNERE
HWEBHMEHRUARENEE - &
AEBIHREZEINREZBEEEN
BREDEREKREER - Bl REE
ZEEENZHE ZEEEEE
BERASERFESHEEMSER
BoEZBERT  AEBTHERME
et CEZEEREBEAER
AIRMAEEAMRBEMNRETH
HEEGE -

RHEEAEEALERNEIE
FHRESR REEREEMER
A T BB R AL E L RIRE
EE -

EHEERE
AEERABELIFRLFEFAE
mHAENEB LA EREREEES
BOEBEEGER] BB -FHRE
EEERBEGVIPNENESR
ERASEFEHEBRNAEERSR
EERFE URMERBRANX
IR -FRARESAEREELER
FIRRARNGORREMEET
LREEAESRERE -

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

444;44444444
1
—_—

& — vz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For
those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default
when contractual payments are more than 90 days
past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the
Group.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for accounts receivable which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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For accounts receivable that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include accounts
payable, financial liabilities included in accrued
liabilities and other payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (accounts
and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, accounts and other
payables, and interest-bearing borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the income statement.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term
cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term
deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow
of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the
future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the
passage of time is included in finance costs in the
income statement.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

KR @
24 EXEHEE®E)

RE

FEFEEEEMELARKRER
FEORERETE) R EHEERRK
BEROALUEITEE AIREESN
SR A EBREREDRE -

BENHEREER ABEMER
NWHEBEEABRBETZEEMTERXR
FRAXNREBERARZEE - ERFE
EBMEL ZITRBEE M ALK
mROBERAEN -

Brig#t
RSB AR EERE - ER
BmiMERREERRANMAEHRNIE
WAOMER  IREMEEKREHE
EREmER -

MREEENEBERREBRERS
PARMECERKNBEERENREK (R
MR EEBEAEBEBAERR
WERTHEEREARFELEATD
MBS N HEROINEE -

EEMBEAZEREE REERE
B2 MELERMBEREREEBER
BEMRZABEHMEERFLE
-

Q3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3JIN 319V3

(=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

444;4444444
1
~

& — vz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd



G3LIAIT SONIATOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 30IN 319V3

=27 5] B3l = (s ) 28l

44;4““4“
(S5}
oo

& — tz0z Wodey |enuuy

B & Fhd

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it
is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)
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Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and all attaching conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to an
expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs,
for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue from contracts with customers is
recognised when control of goods or services is
transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is
estimated at contract inception and constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the
amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group
with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the
contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of
the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services is
recognised at the point in time when control of the
assets or services is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of sportswear and garments.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Other Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland and Vietnam are
required to participate in central pension schemes
operated by the local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension schemes.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continvea) 2. @E‘I‘E&%(ﬁ%
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Other Employee benefits (continued)

Defined benefit plan

The Group operates a defined benefit plan for the
employees of its subsidiaries in Indonesia through
an unfunded pension plan. The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plan is
determined using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from the defined benefit
pension plan, comprising actuarial gains and losses,
the effect of the asset ceiling (excluding net
interest) and the return on plan assets (excluding
net interest), are recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to retained profits
through other comprehensive income in the period
in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss
at the earlier of:

° the date of the plan amendment or
curtailment; and

° the date that the Group recognises
restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount
rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The
Group recognises the following changes in the net
defined benefit obligation under “cost of sales”
and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
income statement by function:

° service costs comprising current service costs,
past service costs, gains and losses on

curtailments and non-routine settlements; and

° net interest expense or income.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum
and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed
and declared.

Special dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed special dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. EtBR@
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

2.4 Material accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or
loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or income statement is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss
respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial
recognition of the related asset, expense or income
on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.
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The functional currencies of Chinese Mainland and
certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other
than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their income statement are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates for the vyears that weighted-average. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea) 2. HEEX®=
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, their
accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’'s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgement, apart from those involving estimations, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue recognition from sale of sportswear
and garments and provision of related
subcontracting services at a point in time

The Group determines at contract inception whether it
transfers to customers the control of its sportswear and
garments over time or at a point in time in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Management’'s assessment process
involves significant judgements in determining whether
the Group’s sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services create assets
with no alternative use and has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date. The Group
has also considered the contractual terms as well as
respective governing law. Based on the assessment of
the Group’'s management, the terms of the relevant
sales contracts do not create an enforceable right to
payment for the Group after taking into consideration
indicators such as whether the Group is entitled for a
compensation cost incurred for the performance
completed to date plus a reasonable profit margin.
Accordingly, the sale of sportswear and garments and
provision of related subcontracting services is
considered to be performance obligation satisfied at a
point in time.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the cash-generating units and
also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2024 was
HK$104,076,000 (2023: HK$104,076,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group determines that
there are five reportable operating segments, based on
the locations of customers (the destinations of sales),
including Chinese Mainland, the United States of
America (the “USA"), Europe, Japan and others. These
segments are managed separately as each segment is
subject to risks and returns that are different from one
another.

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group's profit before
tax except that interest income and other unallocated
income and gains, and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

4.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEHRMNE(R)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)

4,

RESHEERw»

2024 —E-ME
Chinese
Mainland USA Europe Japan Others Consolidated
RE K E E e BR BE EfitE 58
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TET TERT TET TERT TET
Segment revenue: THEEERA
Sales to external HEFHIRE
customers 2,332,360 728,809 488,067 88,984 436,448 4,074,668
Segment results DEEE 458,933 99,264 76,133 14,979 73,043 722,352
Interest income and other B AR E bk
unallocated income and  4RECUI A R &
gains 19,514
Unallocated expenses KX H (361,087)
Profit before tax P& 760 805 Al 380,779
Income tax expense FiBMEx (108,746)
Profit for the year FEEHF 272,033
Segment assets NEEE 1,185,958 479,639 304,983 53,076 291,664 2,315,320
Unallocated assets R EE 855,167
Total assets BEEE 3,170,487
Segment liabilities NEBE 335,072 157,646 93,706 15,561 83,692 685,677
Unallocated liabilities Rp &’ 850,394
Total liabilities BERE 1,536,071
Other segment Hit &R -
information:
Depreciation and MEREH
amortisation 47,875 18,972 11,640 1,914 9,877 90,278
Unallocated amounts Riplc 8 31,567
121,845
Capital expenditure* BEARFX* 39,340 86,729 34,529 1,952 20,993 183,543
Unallocated amounts Ripl eS8 107,467
291,010
* Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and * BEAAXRRAEYE BERZEUR

equipment and leasehold land.

HE M-
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OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBEER @
|NFORMAT|ON (continued)
2023 —_E_=
Chinese
Mainland USA Europe Japan Others  Consolidated
LEipN S ESJE BN X Hft#tE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTET FHET FTET FET FHETT
Segment revenue: DEEERAN ¢
Sales to external HEFHIRER
customers 1,964,572 880,187 627,631 103,593 475,124 4,051,107
Segment results DEEER 267,590 236,657 103,318 20,938 84,797 713,300

Interest income and other ] BN R E Mk
unallocated income and 4R EC I\ R R
gains 20,659

LmE) €8 Q3ILINM SONITTOH (TYNOILYNHILNI) 1IN 3719V3

M
Py

=7 8 B 5l =

Unallocated expenses AL XH (334,515)
Profit before tax B 45 51 % ) 399,444
Income tax expense FIEmmEX (98,501)
Profit for the year FERF 300,943
Segment assets NEEE 1,208,266 416,480 343,248 59,864 291,070 2,318,928
Unallocated assets REEEE 755,819
Total assets BERE 3,074,747
Segment liabilities NEEE 383,232 130,541 109,806 17,017 80,474 721,070
Unallocated liabilities KB BaE 671,431
Total liabilities BERE 1,392,501
Other segment Hit &R -
information:
Depreciation and MEREH
amortisation 36,916 24,565 14,539 2,041 10,019 88,080
Unallocated amounts REREH 31,704
119,784
Capital expenditure* EENGE 45,705 9,442 11,664 1,908 62,150 130,869
Unallocated amounts AEREE 77,242
208,111
* Capital expenditure represents additions to property, plant and * EAREXRRABEYE  BERZEUAR

equipment and leasehold land. HELH-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4,

IN FORMAT'ON (continued)

Geographical information — non-current assets

REQHEERw

WEER — FRBEE

2024 2023

b= <Rl 1 - _E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TFET

Hong Kong FE 92,863 39,037
Chinese Mainland AR [E K B 842,123 933,575
Indonesia EIfE 332,284 216,923
Vietnam s 146,876 118,940
1,414,146 1,308,475

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes goodwill.

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to customers which
amounted to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
is as follows:

EIFERBEEENEREEREBE
B2y TEERE-

FREEERNEH
HEBRARBEAEEBEEBANI0%
HERERAOT -

2024 2023
—E-MF —EZZ=HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Customer A ZBA 2,583,440 2,693,503
Customer B ZFB 721,749 544,139
Customer C EZFEC 644,691 627,840
3,949,880 3,865,482

The above amounts include sales to groups of entities
which are known to be under common control with
these customers.

EREREED-—HER(ZXFEER L
REFIELRIEH)OHEE -



REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5.
GAINS, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

=R B H At A\ B
0 JRER

BEBANZDWRAT -

2024 2023
- =Rl - —_E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Revenue from contracts with REEFELHONEERA
customers
— sale of sportswear and garments — BEERERBRKRHEE
and provision of related DY & 2 3E]
subcontracting services D ERE 4,074,668 4,051,107
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFAHAMNEERKA

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

(i) BEEXRKAEZH

2024 2023
—EmE —F=HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TET

Types of goods or services AmERERER

Sale of sportswear and B RE R EIRHEE

garments 4,071,097 4,040,529
Subcontracting services 2 ER% 3,571 10,5678
Total et 4,074,668 4,051,107
Geographical markets M [E T35
Chinese Mainland Fh B K s 2,332,360 1,964,572
USA EH 728,809 880,187
Europe ERM 488,067 627,631
Japan =N 88,984 103,593
Others Hith 436,448 475,124
Total Bt 4,074,668 4,051,107
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND
GA'NS, NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
(continued)
The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning
of the reporting period:

=R B H At A & K

#

R

REEFGHUNERBAN &)
(i) REEXBAEH &)

TRIINTNRBEHVFTAEGHEE
ZABERHEEREERAZE
A

2024 2023
—E_OEF —EFI=HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Revenue recognised that was RBEHUFAANEGHNEEZ
included in contract liabilities EEREERA -
at the beginning of the
reporting period:
Sale of sportswear and EERERBKEES
garments = 2,300
(i) Performance obligation (ii) BFEF
Sale of sportswear and garments and EEJIRE R BTk & LU R FE 11
provision of related subcontracting services 1555 7 6 iR 7%

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of the sportswear and garments and
payment is generally due within one to three
months from delivery.

Revenue from the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services is
recognised at the point in time when control of
goods is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of sportswear and garments.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations
in relation to the sale of sportswear and garments
and provision of related subcontracting services are
a part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of less than one year.

& BEAE IR R A E B BR 5% K AL R B
T MR —REXINER—E=
BR P -

18 B Ak 2 & BB B DU 1R AE B
DERBZEXRANREYEHE
BREEFRNER —RBEEERM
B B AR 2 B AR B o

ERAITEENE "EEMNGKRE
MEFECRERTE D RER) 2R
HEBRITERMBERME R
B EAEEHRERBKREEN
RiRHERSEREBENMER
BRENEEDREHBHROR—F
MENZ—8D -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 5.
GA'NS, NET (continued)

Other income and gains, net
An analysis of other income and gains, net, is as

=R R H A R K

RE

H AU\ B W3k - SR ER
Hth WA R E  FRZ22AT

follows:
2024 2023
- =Bl 111 B =fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Bank interest income WITFE WA 5,502 3,806
Income derived from financial assets X AFEFTANEBRH
at fair value through profit or loss EMEEMTKES 2,264 1,543
Government grants* IS/ &> 9,435 13,464
Others Hib 2,654 3,909
Total other income and gains, net HEfmR AR IKEEFEE 19,855 22,722
* Various government grants have been received by certain * AEEETRPBERERZZHEAQ K

WMEEBRGHBE R ERSTERRS
LR o 2B & 0 R EMRKRG
HEERREE -

subsidiaries of the Group established in Chinese Mainland for
promoting the manufacturing industry and maintaining the
employment rate. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

(273 B 3= (S bel) 228 QILIWIT SONITTOH (TYNOILYNYILNI) 3IIN 3193

FINANCE COSTS 6. RIERAF
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank loans WITERAE 43,241 21,161

Interest on lease liabilities HEsGMNR

(note 14(b)) (Pt zE14(0) ) 238 470
Total st 43,479 21,631
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRWEDEEF
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEBERMETEFLIOBR(GIN) TI&
(crediting): HERF/L
2024 2023
—E-F —_EF=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHBT
Cost of inventories sold EEFEERAR 3,325,976 3,295,189
Auditor's remuneration ZE AN & 4,201 4,231
Depreciation of property, plant and  #% - BERZHITE
equipment (note 13)* (fFz%13) * 99,355 97,585
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (iE14())*
(note 14(a))* 19,669 19,378
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEEN(ME17)
(note 17) 2,821 2,821
Employee benefit expenses BERMXZEH (TEEEEK
(excluding directors’ and chief THAEERME — HEES)
executive's remuneration —
note 8):
Wages and salaries TERF® 884,290 865,895
Pension contributions BAEHR 139,087 146,430
Less: Forfeited contributions” BRI = —
Net pension contributions BASHITE 139,087 146,430
Total employee benefit expenses*  #{BERH X H* 1,023,377 1,012,325
Foreign exchange loss, net* E RS - FEE 7,836 26,473
Lease payments not included in the ARt AHEBEIEN
measurement of lease liabilities HEMIE (KHaE14(c)) *
(note 14(c))* 314 165
Loss on disposal and write-off of HERMEYE  BKEKRK
items of property, plant and BIEE zEIE  FE
equipment, net* 341 2,063
Income derived from financial assets X AF{EFAEZH
at fair value through profit or loss EHEERSKE (2,264) (1,543)

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the

Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.

These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses” on #

the face of the consolidated income statement.

BEALSEFAREITANREERESR /R
KFZ BRI

ZELHEFANRARERNHMEE
Fx]d -



7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

Included in the respective balances are the following amounts
which are also included in the cost of inventories sold
disclosed above:

~

NnmstnﬁnmmMImammEMSmummuem

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024

—EF-mEZAZ+—H

PRGBS F 2
LSEEREEUTIHALXFABEEEER
ERAZEHE

*

Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERZBINE

equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREESENE
Employee benefit expenses BEGENXH

Lease payments not included in the A AHEEEFENEERE

measurement of lease liabilities

2024 2023
—E_E —BI=HF
HK$"000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
74,524 69,874
18,223 18,206
856,924 863,326
314 165

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

ESRITRESME

FEEEERTHREAZMERET BRH
A*%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ“?"’*%tﬁi%ﬁ,ﬁu R

(A EMEFIYEE383(1)(a)

* (o) B (f) I K

@E(?&E@E%*'Jﬁﬁﬂ)%ﬂﬁ] F2ER 1% BB
LI

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Fees wE 988 988

Other emoluments: HEiifE -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in  #&  SREREYET

kind 16,653 16,153

Discretionary bonuses B & T 4L 9,584 11,260

Pension scheme contributions BIRE EHEIH 2,034 1,974

Subtotal INET 28,271 29,387

Total st 29,259 30,375
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive
directors during the year were as follows:

8. EFRITHMEEME »

(a)

BIAYERTES
FRANFEIFERNTEEZHEEA
T

2024 2023

- =111 - 3 —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Mr. Chan Cheuk Ho BEZELTE 247 247
Mr. Lu Chi Chant* EMELE 231 247
Ms. Tham Kit Wan ERELZL 247 247
Mr. Leung Spencer Yu Cheong BB E%LHE 247 247
Mr. Sun Yun-Rui* BRRAELE 16 —
Total st 988 988

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2023: Nil).

* Mr. Lu Chi Chant resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 8 March 2024.

* Mr. Sun Yun-Rui was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 8 March 2024.

FRLEAMENBIFENTES
ZHE(ZFZ=4F #)-

* EMELREBR_ZE_ME=AI/N\
HREEAADZBMYENTES -

* BABXEERIBEZWEE=ZA/N
HEZERAARBDZHIFERNTE
=



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(b)

Executive directors

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBRRWE(E)

31 March 2024
ZE-MFE=A=+—H

8. EENRTHUEEME »

(b) BMTES

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
g BBR BiRE
fig BENERN Al BELEA L
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TAT TERT TERT TAT
2024 B mE
Executive directors: HTESE
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing** BEALEE = 4,324 2,830 599 7,753
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying BN EE = 4,054 2,710 561 7,325
Mr. Chung Chi Kit BEALE = 1,716 1,530 239 3,485
Mr. Huang Yongbiao BKELE - 3,065 2,276 302 5,643
Ms. Chen Fang Mei BEEZLT = 2,800 184 333 3,317
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung jifYyiviad = 347 27 — 374
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho HEMNLE = 347 27 - 374
Total Rt = 16,653 9,584 2,034 28,271
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions  remuneration
e OEUK Bk
bk BEYER g HERGE [k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTHET TET TET TET
2023 ZEIZE
Executive directors: HITEE
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing** @B £ — 4,198 3,821 582 8,601
Mr. Chen Hsiao Ying BINEEE — 3,936 3,351 545 7,832
Mr. Chung Chi Kit ERGEE — 1,666 2,487 231 4,384
Mr. Huang Yongbiao BERELE — 2,895 1,371 293 4,559
Ms. Chen Fang Mei BEELZL — 2,784 178 323 3,285
Mr. Shih Chih-Hung BEREE — 337 26 — 363
Mr. Hu Chia-Ho HEMLEL - 337 26 - 363
Total Rt - 16,153 11,260 1,974 29,387
**  Mr. Chung Yuk Sing is also the Chairman and the Chief > BEARETRARERARNBEFERTH
Executive Officer of the Company. -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(continued)

(b) Executive directors (continued)
There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

The directors’ remuneration shown above does not
include the estimated monetary value of the
Group's owned premises provided rent-free to an
executive director, Mr. Chung Yuk Shing, during
the year. The estimated rental value of such
accommodation was HK$140,000 (2023:
HK$130,000) for the year ended 31 March 2024.

8. EENRITTHUEEME »

(b) MITES#®
FRNTEFTAEERERDERE
EIEB & 2 L HF -

ERFAIREEHESERBERENRN
MMTESESALEREREN
AEBEEYEZGHEE -BE
_E_MEZR=+—HILEEE"
ZAETE 2 fh 5 #H (& %3140,000%% 7T
(ZE=|Z =% :130,0008&7TT) °

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. hEEaHMES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2023: four) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining one (2023: one) non-
director, highest paid employee for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out below:

FN AaRsSFHEESENA(ZF
T MR)EFE BEREHRBN
BFEAELXMESHKE REE-F M
FZRA=+—HLEEER HT—%
FTIZHF —RERSHFWNFERRES
MM EFRAT

2024 2023

- =Bl 111 . —EZ=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FHETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in  ¥& 2 LEYET

kind 1,689 1,640
Discretionary bonuses B 15 76 AL 2,379 2,225
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIH R 234 227
Total st 4,302 4,092




10.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBRRWE(E)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. AEEEHHMES »
(continued)

The remuneration of the non-director, highest paid REOHNEESEENHFHMN ZIUTE
employee fell within the following band: :

Number of employees

EEHE
2024 2023

—EME ZEI=F
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,0017 7t £4,500,0007& TT 1 1
Total HEt 1 1
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FERN - AEEBMEDEENTAAZES
to the directors or any of the five highest paid FMATXAMESEAMATIMANEAE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the BEENEMIERBEBHEE(CS =
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil). F fE) -
INCOME TAX 10. FR{1G 1R
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of ERN - EENSRIRESBELENMGLETE
16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits EREAMI65%(ZEZ=4F 165%)
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one MEERE  EAEE—ERBAT AT
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under BREMAFINEERERBIRN - ZHWB
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first 2\ 8 H2,000,000% T(Z & = = F -
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits 2,000,000 JT) FE 3R #3388 #1) #28.26% (=
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and BTZF :826% )IMEMK  MERTIE
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% B E M B RIEE%(ZTE Z = F ¢
(2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere 16.5% ) MR B - Hfith 77 FER R & F
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the HRIE - AIIRBAEEEBFAERRKNIR
countries in which the Group operates. TREFTHE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC
being effective on 1 January 2008, the corporate income
tax rate for all enterprises in Chinese Mainland is 25%.

Moreover, under the relevant tax laws and regulations in
Chinese Mainland, Vietnam and Indonesia, a company
may set off losses incurred by it in a financial year
against profits made by it in the succeeding financial
year or years, subject to a maximum of five financial
years.

In addition, Vietnam corporate income tax has been
provided at the rate of 20% (2023: 20%) and the
Indonesia corporate income tax has been provided at the
rate of 22% (2023: 22%) on the estimated assessable
profits.

10. Fife iR =)

RERZFF/NF-A-—BERNHE
REMERE PERKEMELENDE
FRS MR R25% °

L5 - IRBEREFEKE - BERHE
MBEERRA > —RABDAKER—ER/M
BEREEZER  REERER @
ZEMBREEZ G ERZFEEEL
B BEE -

tboh - B EEMERZ20% (2T ==
F :20% ) MEFERE MENERERS
M ERB B L2% (ZF ==
F122% ) MEAERME -

2024 2023
—E_UEF —FI=H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Current tax charge for the year: AEFERBEREXL ¢

Hong Kong H5E 16,498 31,118
Elsewhere Hihith 88,762 60,579

Overprovision for current tax in BEFEFEENBPREBHREES
respect of prior years (394) —
Deferred (note 26) IEIE (Fff 5526) 3,880 6,804
Total tax charge for the year AFEEREXZHERE 108,746 98,501




10. |NCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax using the statutory rates for the tax
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rate is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

10. RIS M@
BARNAATAREABS KBS
ENHBEAEEREAERESEZRR
MHA B HEREERRE Y
MIES > W T

2024 2023
- a1 - 3 —_B=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET THET

Profit before tax B B i 7

380,779 399,444

Tax at the applicable rates to profit in X BRI B A & H % F)
the tax jurisdictions concerned BRAZREFEZRE 89,667 83,795
Adjustments in respect of current tax FtIBEEEEERIBEMEL

of previous years B (394) —
Income not subject to tax BAEBRRZ A (2,318) (3,251)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR ZER 7,875 8,973
Effect of withholding tax on the AEBEBZHENB AR

distributable profits of the Group's TCRFEINRZZE

PRC subsidiaries 4,204 2,221
Tax loss not recognised RERRIERBIE 10,923 7,875
Temporary differences not REDEHFER

recognised (1,211) (1,112)
Tax charge at the Group's effective RAEBEEBRKEHEZ

rate MIE X H 108,746 98,501
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS 1. &2
2024 2023
ot Bl 111 -3 —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Dividends paid during the year: FNEMEER
Final in respect of the financial year #{E_ZF_ =%
ended 31 March 2023 — HK8 Z=A=+—HILEMBEE
cents (2023: HK14 cents) per FKEERE — BREBEK
ordinary share 8B (ZB =%
147840) 42,704 74,732
Special in respect of the financial HE-_S_=%
year ended 31 March 2023 — HK6 Z=ZB=+—HIHKREE
cents (2023: Nil) per ordinary share  $FRIIRE — EREER
GB(ZFEZ=F :F) 32,028 —
Interim — HK30 cents (2023: HK30 HHIKE — SKRZBER3I0E
cents) per ordinary share W ZEBEZ =45 :30781l) 160,140 160,140
234,872 234,872
Proposed dividend: BREEE
Final: HK8 cents (2023: HK8 cents) KREIRE SR ZEKRSE
per ordinary share I(ZEZ=F :88) 42,704 42,704
Special: Nil (2023: HK6 cents) per FilRE SREERT
ordinary share (ZEZ=F 681l ) = 32,028
42,704 74,732

The proposed final dividend for the year is based on the
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
reporting date, and is subject to the approval of the
Company’'s shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. These financial statements do not
reflect the final dividend payable.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company for the year of HK$263,510,000 (2023:
HK$292,639,000) and the number of ordinary shares of
the Company of 533,800,000 (2023: 533,800,000) in issue
during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023 as the Group had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during those years.

12.

FEEZEBRRABRETDRRES A
ARBERTZROHBENE  LAFTE
NREIREREERRBFEFRGHERT
AR - ZF M B RR I E R BRIE R
R

XrREBEAELESRET

EREABANNIIRBENARTHEE A
FE 153 #1263,510,0008 T (ZFE =% :
292,639,000 7T) * UERERNEALNAE R
T BB H533,800,0000% (ZE_=F
533,800,0008%) 5t & -

RBEE-F_MNFR-_F-ZZ=ZFZ=A
“+—HLEFE HEEEBETZEZE
BITEER  AUBEZIARSRER
& -



13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

13. % - BB RRE

Furniture,
fixtures,
Leasehold Plant and equipment and  Construction
Buildings improvements machinery motor vehicles in progress
HE -
RE R
BF HEVREER BB Rt 88 RiRE ERIE @5t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TET TET TET TET TERT
31 March 2024 ZB_ME=A=+-H
Cost: BA
At 1 April 2023 RIFEZ=FME—H 922,655 313,973 471,117 121,788 75,314 1,905,447
Additions "B 22,371 33,198 31,525 21,224 63,068 171,392
Disposals HE = = (31,709) (4,948) = (36,657)
Transfers B 42,613 = = - (42,613) -
Exchange realignment ERHAE (40,357) (14,098) (16,793) (4,545) (1,797) (77,590)
At 31 March 2024 RIBZME
=ZA=+-H 947,288 333,073 454,740 133,519 93,972 1,962,592
Accumulated depreciation: LEWE -
At 1 April 2023 RZZ-=Z&MA—A 275,655 212,559 318,441 100,522 - 907,177
Provided during the year FErE (E7)

(note 7) 29,112 26,747 32,412 11,084 = 99,355
Disposals HE = = (23,260) (1,204) = (24,464)
Exchange realignment ERAE (13,124) (9,231) (10,745) (4,529) - (37,629)
At 31 March 2024 RIE_NE

=ZA=+-H 291,643 230,075 316,848 105,873 = 944,439
Net book value: IREFE -
At 31 March 2024 RZBZ@mE
ZB=+—-H 655,645 102,998 137,892 27,646 93,972 1,018,153
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
MEBRExME(E)

31 March 2024

&=

13.

mE=/F=+—H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. Y% - BERRE @

(continued)
Furniture,
fixtures,
Leasehold Plant and  equipment and Construction
Buildings  improvements machinery  motor vehicles in progress Total
RE-
KE RE
BF WHEYEEE GG 13 kA& ERIE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER FTER FTER FTER FTER
31 March 2023 ZB-=#=H=+-H
Cost: A
At 1 April 2022 AZEZZENA—H 953,542 286,554 464,953 118,919 14,959 1,838,927
Asset acquisition (note 29) BE W (M520) 24,904 — — — — 24,904
Additions "B 335 45,173 31,334 8,678 68,412 153,932
Disposals HE (36) - (7,346) (600) - (7,982)
Transfers B 3,319 - 3,170 468 (6,957) -
Exchange realignment ERRAE (59,409) (17,754) (20,394) (5,677) (1,100) (104,334)
At 31 March 2023 -
=ZA=+-H 922,655 313,973 471,717 121,788 75,314 1,905,447
Accumulated depreciation: LEWE -
At 1 April 2022 RZZBZZFMA—H 266,717 196,808 303,841 95,324 - 862,690
Provided during the year FErE (E7)

(note 7) 24,909 27,946 34,845 9,885 — 97,585
Disposals HE — — (4,340) (258) - (4,598)
Exchange realignment ERAE (15,971) (12,195) (15,905) (4,429) — (48,500)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=&E

=ZA=+-H 275,655 212,559 318,441 100,522 — 907,177
Net book value: IREFE -
At 31 March 2023 Qg3
ZB=+—-H 647,000 101,414 153,276 21,266 75,314 998,270




14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of land
and plant used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 20 to 60 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of
these land leases. Leases of plant generally have lease
terms of 13 months to 6 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group. There is a lease contract that
includes an extension option.

(a) Right-of-use assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

14. HE

FEEFEREEA
rEEREEHREE THEL R IR
HENEESGYN HELHWERE—RKE
ROXMBEAUERHEE L HAN
F20FE605F - REZFLHBEERN &
BARFEX N HMNIE - THRESMNEE
NFIER E6F - —RME  AEER
AEAAEENMINLTERZRTEEESR
E-Hh—HEGNHBEHEEEE-

(a) (EHEEZE
FRNAEEFAEEENRAAER

assets and the movements during the year are as gEMT
follows:
Leasehold
land Plant Total
HE L IR HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FET FHETT
At 1 April 2022 RIEBE-_"FMA—H 246,752 21,220 267,972
Asset acquisition (note 29) & E I (M EE29) 29,275 — 29,275
Depreciation charge (note 7) &M X (MIzE7) (9,837) (9,541) (19,378)
Exchange realignment BE &2 3 22 (13,795) (417 (14,212)
At 31 March 2023 and RIEZZ=ZF
1 April 2023 ZA=+—Hk
B =FHM™AB—H 252,395 11,262 263,657
Additions NE 119,618 1,782 121,400
Depreciation charge (note 7) &R X (MzE7) (10,246) (9,423) (19,669)
Exchange realignment BE 52 5 B (13,231) (196) (13,427)
At 31 March 2024 RISZME
ZA=+—H 348,536 3,425 351,961

One of the Group’s leasehold land with a net
carrying amount of HK$1,127,000 (2023:
HK$1,215,000), together with the buildings thereon,
has been provided as rent-free accommodation to
Mr. Chung Yuk Sing, an executive director of the
Company during the year.

AEBHEHPE-—EREB FE
1,127,000 T(Z & = = &F :
1,215,000 70) 2 HE L+ #1 - E [
HEIHEFRENRER]REAESA
SERATD—GRTESR)NRMA
=
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

14. H & @

FXEEFEREBA R

(b) HEEE
FWHEEEEMNREERESNOT

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

T#&T THET

Carrying amount at 1 April REB—HZERHEE 11,803 21,811

Additions ANE 1,782 —
Accretion of interest recognised F R R A 2 (HF5E6)

during the year (note 6) 238 470

Payments T (9,924) (10,028)

Exchange realignment BE &2 FA (216) (450)

Carrying amount at 31 March =B =+—HZEHE 3,683 11,803

Analysed into: TR
Current portion BN EA &R 3,366 10,456
Non-current portion JEENEAER & 317 1,347

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 35 to the financial statements.

HEEEIHEITREBHRRK

FE35I BE °



14. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

15.

(c)

(d)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

14. HE @
XEBEFEAERBEANE)

(c) REDEIREBSHERAOZEMNT :

2024 2023
—_E_F —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#&T FET
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaEMR 238 470
Depreciation charge of right-of- {EFREEENEMX
use assets 19,669 19,378
Expense relating to short-term HHEEHHEEZHX
leases (included in cost of (FFAHE R AX)
sales) 314 165
Total amount recognised in REDERNRE
profit or loss 20,221 20,013

The total cash outflow for leases and future cash
outflows relating to leases that have not vyet
commenced are disclosed in note 30(c) to the
financial statements.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES

(d) HERTROEREKLESRMANKE
EARHNRREEREREBREK
Bf$ 5£30(c) B B& ©

15. i_‘Eﬁ%’ME EBEREMELW

™IE

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#&ET FET
Prepayments FEfTRIA 57,960 58,527
Deposits and other receivables & K H A E W ERIE 112,443 106,453
170,403 164,980
Less: Non-current portion of deposits & BEEYE  KE
for purchases of items of RFREEBN
property, plant and BN HEAER 92
equipment &B& (41,916) (41,611)
Current portion BN ER &R 2> 128,487 123,369
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=H=+—H

15. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 15. AT FRIE « B R H B

OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuea)

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there was no recent
history of default and past due amounts. Their
recoverability was assessed with reference to the credit
status of the debtors, and the loss allowances as at 31
March 2024 and 2023 were assessed to be minimal.

Included in balance as at 31 March 2022 represented a
loan principal of HK$8,834,000 and accrued interest of
HK$33,000 due from Mr. Huang Yongbiao, a director of
the Company. The loan bore interest at 4.35% per
annum and was repayable within 30 business days after
the receipt of the final consideration by Mr. Huang
Yongbiao for the acquisition of Guangdong Dalian.
Particulars of an amount due from a director disclosed
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong
companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Companies
(Disclosure of information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

I (@)

SN RSB SN SREE
H 3 4 0 SRR SR R 6 4 o EL T W
SREBANEERRTE RS
TMER-BE-=£=A=+—BNE
1B 1B AR ST A R T A o

RSB _F=ZA=+—HMWERERE
KARNBESEXRRELENEREE
8,834,00078 7t & FE 5T F] 233,000 T ° %
BERIRENERLIZF%EE - BREKES
A IR KBS E RER N R KR E%R30E
EEHNEZR RBEB(RIBRANE
3BBMAME R B (KEEEFMEIER)
HONDEFMILEMEW — R EEZRIEF
BT -

Maximum
Maximum At amount
amount 31 March 2023 outstanding
At 31 March outstanding and during At 1 April
Name 2024 during the year 1 April 2023  the prior year 2022
R-ZBZZF
ZA=+—-HEkK BEEFE
RZB-HmE ENREE —B”=f AEE RIBZZE
4 =ZB=+-H BREHE mA—B BREHE mA—B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Mr. Huang Yongbiao ~#EXEEE — — — 8,867 8,867




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

16. GOODWILL 16. &

2024 2023
—EME —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT

Cost and net carrying amount: BARIREZFE

At beginning of year and at REDRRER
end of year 104,076 104,076

Impairment testing of goodwill 2R E A

PRC CGU ONE

Goodwill of HK$26,112,000 (2023: HK$26,112,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended 31
March 2008, was allocated to a cash-generating unit in
Chinese Mainland which is engaged in manufacture and
trading of sportswear and garments (the “PRC CGU
ONE").

The PRC CGU ONE generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU ONE has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a five-
year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 18.2% (2023: 18.1%), which is pretax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU ONE.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023: 2%). The
directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU ONE to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the PRC CGU ONE is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

Hh B3 2 A B i — 5
RBEE_ZEZ/N\EFE=ZB=+—HLEE
I 1T Wt BB P EE A RO RS 2226,112,00058 T
(ZEZ=4 :26,112,00087T) & mEH
BEAEREESREIRNEEREES
ZHREEXEN(TRRSEEEM—
81 e

PRHREELABMN—SREENREERAAN
RELBIRREHMEENEERA

FERSEEEN— R KEESED
RIBEREEET  MEBEENRES
EREEEEN s  AEHMREERE
BZREREFNE - WHBEEZHGE IR
MERKEFTEERFERTAERERE - 8
REMEZIERBRAMBEZEFNE
(EEEEFEENZFTFEMERZTY
FEAR)RITBERIB2% (ZF =4
18.1% ) (Th BRI BT R R BREE P B3R & EE 4
BAN—REBZISTERERE)  AFHNUE
NIBEEREFERY (ZEZ_ZF 2%)
2 RERE - EEHE  AAZERE
AR EMBIRZ &8 KA TERPE
HeEABN— B EREEBHET
WELE BHARTRRSEABNV—HT
AREESREREE EERARRE
EHREETEBRRE-
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. & »)
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BHERENR®
Vietnam CGU BEEEELEN

Goodwill of HK$36,075,000 (2023: HK$36,075,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended 31
March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit in
Vietnam which is engaged in the manufacture of
sportswear (the “Vietnam CGU").

The Vietnam CGU generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets.

The recoverable amount of the Vietnam CGU has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a five-
year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budget
years and the discount rate of 24.2% (2023: 21.9%),
which is pretax and reflects specific risks relating to the
Vietnam CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023:
2%). The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the Vietnam CGU to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the Vietnam CGU is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

REBE_F—AFE=ZB=1+—HILEFE
& 17 W B8 BT EE £ 1Y 7S 2836,075,000 7T
(ZE| =4 :36,075,000/8 70) R 1E
EREENRENSEZRESESEM ([
BRESELEBEAM -

HEREEABENEENEESRAKRE
FBIRRKEEMEENRERA -

HMERSELEMZ AT REISENIRE
FHREEEE MEABENREBERSHK
CEEEMCAFEHVREEMBEINZ
REeEREFE  -HHEEZGENIRRE
BEkEFFEREAEREE -BURS
MEZIERRAFMBEEZENXR(AR
EHEEEENZFEEMERZFHER
R) R IR RU2%(Z 8] — = & -
21.9% ) (BRI R R REBERSES
BNERZESEREE) -AFHMUENER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁm&:%:5$~wsz
REHE - EEHE  TAZERED
FEMBREZE8 K1 g %%L%ﬁé
EEBEUZARAEBLE KD SE -
HREEReEEEUNzIKRESES
REREE EERARBEHERFTEN
EHIERE -



16. GOODW' LL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

PRC CGU TWO

Goodwill of HK$38,147,000 (2023: HK$38,147,000),
arising from an acquisition during the year ended 31
March 2019, was allocated to a cash-generating unit in
Chinese Mainland which is engaged in the manufacture
and trading of sportswear (the “PRC CGU TWO").

The PRC CGU TWO generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the PRC CGU TWO has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a five-
year period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin achieved
in the year immediately before the budget years and the
discount rate of 16.7% (2023: 17.9%), which is pretax
and reflects specific risks relating to the PRC CGU TWO.
The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023: 2%). The
directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the PRC CGU TWO to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the PRC CGU TWO is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBEHRME(E)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

16. & »

RERENRE

HEREEEEE M

RBEE_ZE-—NE=ZB=+—HILEE
& 17 IR B8 P E & 19 7 238,147,00078 7T
(ZF =4 :38,147,00087T) BERET
BEAEREESRELEREEZRS
ELfBEMN((FHREB&EEBEM_]]) -

TRHRESELABU_REENEERA
RELBINKEEMEENRERA

FEREEAEMN_RAKEIESET
RIBERAEEEE  MEREBENRER
EREEEEN AE RV REERE
BZzREREFNE - WHBEEZHGE IR
MERKBFFERRELKTBIHZE - A
REMEZTERBRAMBEZENE
(R EEEFENZEEMERZ Y
EMNR)RIFTBRICTN (ZB_ZF
17.9% ) (Th BRI BT R R BREE R B3R & EE 4
BUZHEERZEERR) AEHRMUE
NIBEREFERAY(ZEZZF 2%)
2 RERE - EEHE  EAZERK
AR EMEIRZ &8 AT ERPE
ReELEN Rz EREDEBLEED
WELE ARTRERESELBA-EY
ARESESREREE EERARRE
HHARKEEL E B RE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

16. GOODWILL (continued) 16. & »)
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Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) BHERENR®
Indonesia CGU HERELELE

Goodwill of HK$3,742,000 (2023: HK$3,742,000), arising
from an acquisition during the year ended 31 March
2022, was allocated to a cash-generating unit in
Indonesia which is engaged in the manufacture and
trading of sportswear and garments (the “Indonesia
CGU").

The Indonesia CGU generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets.

The recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU has been
determined from the value in use, which is calculated
with reference to cash flow projections based on a five-
years period financial budget approved by senior
management. The financial budgets are prepared
reflecting actual and prior year performance and
development expectations. The key assumptions for the
cash flow projections are the budgeted gross profit
margin which is the average gross profit margin
achieved in the year immediately before the budget
years and the discount rate of 20.0% (2023: 20.6%),
which is pretax and reflects specific risks relating to the
Indonesia CGU. The cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2023:
2%). The directors believe that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
aggregate carrying amount of the Indonesia CGU to
exceed the aggregate recoverable amount. Since the
recoverable amount of the Indonesia CGU is higher than
its carrying amount, the directors consider there was no
impairment of the goodwill at the end of the reporting
period.

REBE_FS__F=ZFB=+—HILFE
ETWEERTE £ NEE3,742,008 T (=
| =4 :3,742,0005870) BEREENE#)
EEFREMBRREERESGZERESE
HSEM(HNERESEAENM]) -

HEREELEBENEENESRAKRE
FHEINEKE ,E\:fm’élflxﬁ’]fﬁﬁum}\ °

HMERSELEMNZTKEOIEEIRE
FREEEE MEBEENREASR
EEEEM APV RBEERBENZ
HeEREFE MBEEZHERENIRIE
BrBEFERERERERE BlR:
MEZEERIAMBEEZEFNE (AR
EREEEENZEEMERZFEHER
)& I R200%(ZF = = &£
20.6% ) (TR EI R R REEENEIRBESE
BUNEBEZEERR) - AFHMNENR
ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%nﬂ:%:zﬁ-mﬁZw
REHE - EFHEE  EAZERED
EEM IR #E HﬁTﬁﬁﬁﬁzEﬂF‘biﬁ%
EXBEMNZEREEBHATIRESE -
HREBERESELEMNZOUKREESES
REREE EFRARBEHRTEL
mHIRRE -



Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRKE(R)
31 March 2024
—F_mE=Z/A=+—H

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. BB E
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Customer
Backlog relationship Total
REKREHE ZERRR% et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHET FHETT
31 March 2024 —_E_MMEF
=A=+-H
Cost at 1 April 2023, net of RZEBE =4
accumulated amortisation MA—B®
A - 0BR
Rt = 4,937 4,937
Amortisation provided during £E P9 85 # &5
the year (note 7) GEY = (2,821) (2,821)
At 31 March 2024 AT
=B=+—H = 2,116 2,116
At 31 March 2024: ATF N4
=BA=+—H:
Cost B AN 2,838 16,926 19,764
Accumulated amortisation 2 5+ # 8 (2,838) (14,810) (17,648)
Net carrying amount IRHERE - 2,116 2,116
31 March 2023 ZEZZHF
=H=+—H
Cost at 1 April 2022, net of RZEBE__4£F
accumulated amortisation MAE—H®
A - 0BR
REtHEE — 7,758 7,758
Amortisation provided during 4F P9 1 §5 55 &5
the year (note 7) (B 5E7) — (2,821) (2,821)
At 31 March 2023 RIEBEZ=ZF
—B=+—H — 4,937 4,937
At 31 March 2023: N_FZ=HF
=B=+—H:
Cost %N 2,838 16,926 19,764
Accumulated amortisation B &t H (2,838) (11,989) (14,827)
Net carrying amount BRENFE — 4,937 4,937
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

18. INVENTORIES 18. #&

2024 2023

- =Sl - 5 —_B=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&ET FHBT

Raw materials JR # % 293,579 260,958

Work in progress EE M 234,686 215,861

Finished goods B 176,604 200,365

Total Bt 704,869 677,184

19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 19. FEYER X

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&ET FET

Accounts receivable & I BR 3R 324,572 345,113
The Group's accounts receivable mainly relate to a few AEBEBZEKERFEHASE TRAKLE
recognised and creditworthy customers. The credit ERFNEF1EE - EEH—RABIOXRE
period is generally for a period of 30 to 90 days (2023: OR(ZEZ=4F :30KEIWXK) - AEH
30 to 90 days). The Group seeks to maintain strict BRAOABEKREEEVRFRTEEZEE &
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise the FEERBREZHEREKFE - @HERMZ5HE
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by HHASEEEETHER AKBMR
the management of the Group. The Group does not hold MEBKERERFEETMRARIE
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its IR EEREE - BWERRARERNR
accounts receivable balances. The accounts receivable RBESHR  FEBRRAEF - E-KE
are non-interest-bearing. At the end of the reporting ERE=ZREFE DB IEKERRAEEEGS %
period, 65% (2023: 62%), 22% (2023: 22%) and 9% (ZEZ=Z%F 62%) 2% (ZFZ=

(2023: 12%) of the total accounts receivable were due F 22% ) %9% (ZBZ=F 12%) °

from the Group’s largest customer, the second largest
customer and the third largest customer, respectively.
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19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES (continuea)

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MERRKE(R)
31 March 2024
—F_mE=Z/A=+—H

19. FEUWBRFR (=)

REEHRZERRRBBEZEHHN
FRECDITAT -

2024 2023
—E_MFE —E=HF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 30 days 30K 266,865 268,080
31 to 60 days 31E60K 28,300 69,015
61 to 90 days 61E90K 28,260 4,413
Over 90 days 0K E 1,147 3,605
Total Bt 324,572 345,113

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. No impairment allowance has been
provided as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 as management
concludes that the expected credit losses are not
significant given the receivable balances are related to
customers for whom there are no recent history of
default and majority of the balances are not yet past
due.

RERSHBEHRABEEEREETRHE
2T UFTETEREEEE - BEXRE
FHEFEREANREZTFRBECEHERE
T8 o ZETERMBAREINEL R KRR
SHHETUENERBEEE - BRIk
RREEFRGTAINEGERUTEER - A
R FE WK BR 3% 45 B B 3 B 3 4R R SR RE 8RN0
FEEHEBEERT M GRS R EE
ERAEREEEERBRMY AR
FE_NMER_ZE_=F=B=+—HiI
W|ETIRIAERE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

20. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE, TIME  20. 3%
DEPOSITS AND CASH AND BANK &

BALANCES
2024 2023
—E-F B =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Cash and bank balances HE&RIRITERR 454,776 370,250
Non-pledged time deposits with REEREZHAREBE
original maturity of less than three = BMWERFETHER
months when acquired 36,366 146,280
Less: Restricted bank balance for BORPEREEOREN
import purchases in Chinese 52 PR &l 2R 1T 4 B8R
Mainland (1,084) (1,143)
Total cash and bank balances R RIRITERERE 490,058 515,387

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB") amounted to HK$428,087,000 (2023:
HK$444,284,000). RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies. However, under Chinese Mainland's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for seven days depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and restricted bank balance are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

RBERR  AEBUARE(TARK])
sHEM IR £ K& iR 17 4% 8} 2428,087,0007%&
TT(Z T Z =4 :444,284,000 75) - A
EMASERRRAEMEN - AMIRE
PR B K S A 0 BE B FRAR 1) L B 45 BE - S BE
ENEEERTE AEEENEEZBER
ERBENEEBZRTBARERRA

FRE|ETHRERBARTERNEXZ
FEBEXREAE - AEERIKREH
ZEHECRWEHESHER Lo 5KE
BT A RBREAR - RITERRE
RHEBTERDERNRESEEREHRHR
RFRFT % 2 3R1T



21.

22.

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

21. FE{TERFR

REEHRZEMRIBBEZTEHH
FRECDITAT -

2024 2023
—E_MFE —EZ=HF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 90 days 90K N 290,984 361,486
91 to 180 days 91E180K 9,792 6,761
181 to 365 days 181E365K 945 2,276
Over 365 days 365K X £ 4,977 5,221
Total #BEt 306,698 375,744

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on credit terms of 30 to 60 days.

BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s banking facilities were
supported by the corporate guarantees of
HK$1,490,290,000 (2023: HK$1,108,450,000) executed by
the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company.

As at 31 March 2024, an aggregate amount of the
Group’s banking facilities of HK$909,464,000 (2023:
HK$622,823,000) was utilised.

BAEABEBERR  FEH-—RAB/I0E
60K °

22. RITIEHRIEE
RIFBZME=A=+—H ' A&EEBEKIR
THEREEUARARARNGETHE
N B %I A B ¥ £#£1,490,290,0007 T
(ZEZ =4 :1,108,450,000% 75) 1F X%
5o

RIFBZME=A=+—H ' A&EEBEKIR
THAEEE 8 B & 3£909,464,0005 JT
(ZE =4 :622,823,0005&7C) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

23. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER
PAYABLES

23. Bt & B & H fth FE 4 FIR

2024 2023
—_EB_UE B =HF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHBTT

Other payables HEMEMRIE 42,047 90,878
Accruals st & 122,804 127,136
Total et 164,851 218,014

Included in other payables were contract liabilities of
HK$979,000 as at 31 March 2024, nil as at 31 March
2023 and HK$2,300,000 as at 1 April 2022.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver sportswear and garments. The increase (2023:
decrease) in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due to
the increase (2023: decrease) in short-term advances
received from customers in relation to the sales of
sportswear and garments at the end of the year.

BHNEGEHANEMBEARESIR-E
“_HE=RB=+—H%979,0008 T « X
“ECZFZR=+—HARAEBRRZ=ZF
——FMHA—H%2,300,000% 7T e

BHNREEREARNEDRER KR
AR EEENR - REFZEERNEL
BEEM(ZFI=F B TEZHREF
AMEHREREKREEDEF KKK
MBBEMREM(ZSZ=4 (B
B o



24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

24. ;T ERITER

BORROWINGS
2024 2023
-l S - F
Effective HK$°000 HK$'000
interest rate BRFIx Maturity bR FERT FET
Current ENER
Bank loans RITER  2.8% t0 6.05% 2.8%%6.05% Within one year or —&ERNHEEKX 651,074 544,323
(2023: 3.53% to (ZBZ=% on demand
5.58%) 353%E
5.58%)
Non-current JEENEA
Bank loans RITEF  6.05% 6.05% 2025-2026 _E_HEE 258,390 78,500
(2023: 5.58%) (ZBZ=% " (2023: 2024~ —ECRE
5.58% ) 2025) (Z2Z=%:
ZEIMERE
“B2RE)
As at 31 March 2024, bank borrowings of RIFE_MNE=BA=+—H RITERN

HK$909,464,000 (2023: HK$622,823,000)

were supported

by corporate guarantees executed by the Company and

certain subsidiaries of the Company.
As at 31 March 2024,
HK$437,309,000 (2023:

denominated in US$.

Based on the maturity terms of the bank

bank borrowings of
HK$454,123,000)

were

borrowings, the

amounts repayable in respect of the bank borrowings are

analysed as follows:

909,464,000/ T(Z & = =
622,823,000870) AN B K AR E]
MBARSELNATEREXF-

RZFB-_ME=F=+—H RITEX
437,309,000 T(Z | = = £ :
454,123,000/ 70) A= TTETE -

RIBRTERZERSE  RITEREEE
TEITWMT -

Analysed into: TR
Within one year and on demand —FENHEEK
In the second year £F
In the third to fifth years, inclusive SH=ZFZEZFALE
(BEEEWME)

2024 2023
—EOE —EFET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER TET
651,074 544,323
101,790 15,700
156,600 62,800
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Group provides benefits for its employees of its
subsidiary in Indonesia who attain the retirement age of
57 to 58 years (2023: 57 to 58 years) based on the
provisions of the Indonesian Job Creation Act Number
11/2020, Indonesian Government Regulations Number
35/2021, Collective Labour Agreement and Management
Policy No.001/ENI-SK/IV/2023, through an unfunded
pension plan.

The plan is exposed to salary increase risk and interest
rate risk.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value
of the defined benefit obligations were carried out at 31
March 2024 by Kantor Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan
Rekan, an independent actuary with a licence from the
Indonesia Ministry of Finance, using the projected unit
credit method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of
the reporting period are as follows:

25.

EERASE
AEBEBEERBAFTEERENEA
EESEEEE11/2020%% - EE BT
& B ZE35/202 15 R EBEHERI K EE
B 2R 55001/ENI-SK/IV/20235% » & HE B
MEBAEERN7TESR(ZE _=4F :57
E58m) BRRFEREERHEER -

Zat & R ¥ & £ 7+ LB B M R AR o

EREMNECREZENBEEMERE
Je B B EB 3R B 3F i 5 B BB I Kantor
Konsultan Aktuaria Yusi Dan Rekan#®
EABMNEEREMEENR S ZHAF
—B=+—HEE-

REBESHRARAZEIEBRERINOT -

2024 2023
- 11 5 —E=F

BXENE
PR R (%)

EN Indonesia
Discount rate (%)

Expected rate of salary increase (%) FEETEFEIBRE(%)

PGG PGG
Discount rate (%) I ZE (%)

Expected rate of salary increase (%) TEsTEF &I RZE(%)

7.03 713
5.0 5.0
7.06 7.10
6.0 6.0




25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant
assumptions as at the end of the reporting period is
shown below:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
BBRRWE(E)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

25 EERIETw

RBESHPR  EXBRRZEEHBEDT
FIRAMT

Increase/
(decrease) in
net defined

Increase/
(decrease) in
net defined

Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
EEENEE ERENEE
REEM BEEM
LhE EFH GRi) LEETR GR )
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
FET TET
2024 ZEZmE
Discount rate IR 1 (2,323) 1 2,729
Future salary increase 7 3R 3 & 1% 10 1 2,623 1 (2,296)
2023 B =H
Discount rate FIRE 1 (1,985) 1 2,330
Future salary increase 723K ¥ <& 10 1 2,355 1 (2,039)

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
based on a method that extrapolates the impact on
defined benefit obligations as a result of reasonable
changes in key assumptions occurring at the end of the
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis is based on a
change in a significant assumption, keeping all other
assumptions constant. The sensitivity analysis may not
be representative of an actual change in the defined
benefit obligations as it is unlikely that changes in
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another.

ERFREAITDRBEIEZHERRRN
BEPRBEZAEEHHTEERINE
EZRBZTEMERE - MRESNIIE
REMBHMERAZ2NBER TH—E
ERBRLETET - MRESTRL
RTERBHUEENERNE  EHRFR
BB BEE N TERRE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The total expense/(income)

recognised in the

consolidated income statement in respect of the plan are

as follows:

25 EERIEFTw

MZETEIRGRE R RER 2 (K

N)BENT

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current service cost RAERBRAE 3,765 2,392
Past service cost 8 & AR 75 B AR (6,105) (3,275)
Interest cost FE A 737 257
Net benefit expense AR EE (1,603) (626)
Recognised in cost of sales TR & R A HERR (1,305) (520)
Recognised in administrative RITHHE X #R
expenses (298) (106)
(1,603) (626)
The movements in the present value of the defined THEENSTREIEESHNT -
benefit obligations are as follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
At beginning of reporting period RS E 22,113 19,861
Current service cost RERBRA 3,765 2,392
Past service cost 18 2 IR 7 B A (6,105) (3,275)
Interest cost FER K 737 257
Actuarial losses HEEBEIE 1,117 3,467
Benefits paid E @l (28) (16)
Exchange differences CE R ERE (1,212) (573)
At end of reporting period RBEER 20,387 22,113




Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

25. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The movements in the defined benefit obligations are as

follows:

2024

Pension cost charged

to profit or loss

EHREBEUTBT @

EHEBEIEE 20T

—ENF

Remeasurement (gains)/losses

in other comprehensive income

REZNRZERERE Rt 2Eka2 EHE (K /FE
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from arising from arising from Sub-total Exchange
included in changes in  changesin  changes in included in other differences
1 April Service Net the income Benefits demographic financial ~ experience  comprehensive on a foreign 31 March
2023 cost interest  statement paid assumptions assumptions adjustments income plan 2024
ADRREE MERRZD SREZLH
Skt 3 FARER EEZRE EEZRE EEIRE  HARBSE  RAGEN ZBR-@E
EE-B  EEEx  HSFE 2t ERER 29 29 29 bzt  ERE® ZA=1-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TR TR TR
Defined benefit obligations EERIER 2113 (2,340) 737 (1,603) (28) = 1452 (335) 1417 (1,212) 20,387
2023 —g=
Pension cost charged Remeasurement (gains)/losses
10 profit or loss in other comprehensive income
REZNBZERERE EfteEREZ ENHE(RE)/BE
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial
changes changes changes
Sub-total arising from  arising from  arising from Sub-total Exchange
included in changes in  changesin  changes in included in other differences
1 April Service Net  the income Benefits  demographic financial ~ experience  comprehensive on a foreign 31 March
2022 cost interest statement paid  assumptions  assumptions  adjustments income plan 2023
ADBREE HBRRED LRIZLE
kSt SFARER EEZRE  ERZEE ELUBE O HAERSE  RHIEE  ZB2Zf
BE-B  EBAA  HEEE 2Nt 28 28 28 kEzhg  EREZE ZA=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TERL TET TET TET
Defined benefit obligations EERHER 19,861 (883) 257 (626) - 2045 1422 3467 (573) 2113
The Group provides defined benefits to its eligible AEEHEBEBEHEFERFEAENES

employees in Indonesia through unfunded pension plans.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation of
EN Indonesia and PGG at the end of the reporting period
is 17.56 years (2023: 17.48 years).

BEREESRHUERE -

fEEENE RPGCRIBEH RN EHEEF
EXFEHHERAEI7T6E(ZTE =4
17.48%) »
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

26.

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the Group

during the year are as follows:

Accelerated

26.

B ERIA
AEERERNECHESERBNT -

Withholding
taxes on
undistributed

Losses
available
for offsetting

tax Asset profits of PRC against future
depreciation revaluation Others  subsidiaries taxable profits Total
TERBAR  FRAREH
RARENZ BERERR
MERBIFE BEEfR Hity BiR  ENzER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TET TERT TERT
At 1 April 2022 RZB-"&EMA—H 4,564 35,680 1,054 8,026 (6,000) 43,324
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ~FNELARBRITR/
consolidated income statement (GEN) RERRIE
during the year (note 10) (HzE10) 6,723 (1,432) (708) 2,221 — 6,804
Withholding tax on repatriation of A B R 2 ) B L B
earnings from subsidiaries in BR
the PRC — — - (467) - (467)
Exchange realignment ERHAE — (1,053) — - — (1,053)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZFZ=F=B=+-H
kZZFZ=FNA—H 11,287 33,195 346 9,780 (6,000) 48,608
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the EREZERBRNE/
consolidated income statement GENRIEERE
during the year (note 10) (HzE10) 1,830 (2,243) (485) 4,204 574 3,880
Withholding tax on repatriation of HE T B E I AEN
earnings from subsidiaries in R
the PRC - - - (4,635) - (4,635)
Exchange realignment ERHAE = (2,183) 139 = - (2,044)
At 31 March 2024 RZZBZME=A=+—-H 13,117 28,769 - 9,349 (5,426) 45,809




26. DEFERRED TAX (continuea)

Pursuant to the PRC Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is
levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in
Chinese Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings accrued after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese
Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rates are 5% or 10% (2023:
5% or 10%). In estimating the withholding taxes on
dividends expected to be distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008, the directors
have made an assessment based on the factors which
included the dividend policy and the level of capital and
working capital required for the Group's operations in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the investments in
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately HK$414,489,000 (2023: HK$343,160,000).

The Group has aggregate estimated tax losses arising in
Chinese Mainland, Indonesia, Vietnam and Hong Kong of
HK$142,689,000 (2023: HK$73,014,000) that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
Company and the respective subsidiaries in which the
losses arose. Apart from the tax losses for which
deferred tax asset of HK$5,426,000 (2023: HK$6,000,000)
has been recognised at the end of the reporting period,
no other deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of these losses as the directors consider it is not
probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which these tax losses can be utilised. Included
in unrecognised tax losses are estimated tax losses of
HK$108,946,000 (2023: HK$33,412,000) that will expire
within five years from the date the losses arose. Other
losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

26.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

EIERIE @)
RIBPERE  RPEXERLZ N
BRI EREESERZEEBES
K10%EINHK - ZMERZ_FF/N\E—HA
—BER LERR_BELtE+_-A
=t+—HBELEZEF - (HhEAREIN
BREEZ B EEERITIRBIRL - BT
BREEEAEIRKE AEEZBAR
K AF%HI10%(Z T — = £ 5%
10% ) ° FEHET X2 F PR KER B A
M- EENE—FB—HBRELENEF
FEHIRZE R EFSMNTENRE  BEE
FEEEERERRARENTRRRAER
EEMMEEAREEESKESERE - Xk
BREERBEEENTEAXERBAR
CHENERNUEEBRBAEAN
414,489,000 TT(Z & = = £ :
343,160,0003& 7T) ©

AEEBRPEKAE HE BEEREBE
’EIEZTEJ*QEE‘J’L@%E%MZ689000%
TT(ZE =4 :73,014,000% 7T) -
mf&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%;’iiéﬂéﬁﬁ%@ﬂz
H&ERBR AT - BRINIER S IR E R
EIEB#ES,426,0008 T (ZB_=F
6,000,000/ 7T) 2 MIEEEIN HNES
RAEBHEBERREF RO EERERKH
ZEMBEEE WEERZSHEEEZRHE
HEERBEEE - RIERREEGESER
=t ¥ 18 5 18108,946,0008 TT(Z 8 - =
£ :33,412,000%7T) ' SEEBEEEZH
EAFENEE - HtGE T ERPLEE -
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27. ISSUED CAPITAL 27. ERTER
2024 2023
—EB-OE —_E=HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
T#&ET TFHET
Authorised: EE
10,000,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000,0008%
. 10,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZEZ=%F:
2 of HK$0.01 each 10,000,000,000%)
= FREE.0TEB T2
= ®3E 100,000 100,000
5 Issued and fully paid: ERTRER -
% 533,800,000 (2023: 533,800,000) 533,800,0008%
= ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each (ZZ =% -
b= 533,800,0008%)
S BEREECBITZ
= LE R 5,338 5,338
&
= A summary of the Company's issued capital is as ARNBEBITHRANERAOT -
= follows:
m
b Number of
% ordinary
e shares in Issued Share
b issue capital premium Total
e BRTEAR
o> B BETRE B EE it
a HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET
1 ‘ At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 RZIFEZZ%
208 ! and 31 March 2024 mA—8-
‘ ‘ ZEI=&
=R=+—-Hk
> ZHIME
g —A=+—H 533,800,000 5,338 573,910 579,248
g
o
S
N
[l
il



28.

29.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

The capital reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the aggregate of the nominal value
of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company pursuant to a group reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) in August 2003, and the nominal value
of the share capital of the Company issued in exchange
therefor and the existing 1,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each credited as fully paid, at par.

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations,
subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to
transfer a certain portion of their profits after tax, as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations, to the
statutory surplus reserve, until the balance of the
reserve reaches 50% of their respective registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant PRC regulations, the statutory surplus reserve
may be used to offset against accumulated losses.

ASSET ACQUISITIONS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 1 May 2022, the Group acquired a 100% equity
interest in Beyond Top, a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands with limited liability, together with
its only wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in Vietnam,
at a final consideration of US$6,692,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$52,500,000). Beyond Top
investment holding company whose only wholly-owned
subsidiary was principally engaged in manufacture of
shoes in Vietnam before ceasing operation in 2009.

is an

28.

29.

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
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i
FEERFEERBEFEZFESR
REBBFBERUBRRPZEGED
BERZET -

FEEERFEREEARIRBE-ST=
FN\BZEBEA([EEDFBRBREL
ANRAEERSR EREETZAAR
IR A EE K& 3R A 1,000,000 5 R E{E0.01
BTEREEANRIFBERNDEBZESE -

REEETERL - EREZMONEL
BIARE THMOMNRREBEN (RHEE
RARPIEE) BBREATERGERE EE
ZRENEREIESBEMELRL0% -
EERTERLMEETRIBRRT - &
ERBRETREREZRESGE-

EBKEHBARETEE
I B

RIBEZIZTFAA—HBH F&EEKE
Beyond Top (—RREBHER RS M
BRI B RAA) FI100% BRHE - ERIE M
—REBERINEERBAR  RERE
#6,692,0003 7t (18 % R £952,500,00078
JT) ° Beyond Tope —KIEEZRKE A F -
EHE—HNEL2EMBAARZISEZTAERE
EREHFETHRENREREEE-
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29. ASSET ACQUISITIONS THROUGH 29. ZBWBEMBAREITEE
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES kg =)
(continued)
Management accounted for the transaction as an EEERZRZIREERBEBENKEA
acquisition of assets and liabilities. The cost of BR - IR AR BB A RNIKE R BN
acquisition is allocated to individual identifiable assets HEAFTEIEERENSE N #HIE
and liabilities of the acquired company on the basis of ERaE #®AWT :

their relative fair values at the date of acquisition as
summarised below:

m
5
m Fair value
2 .
§ recognised on
= acquisition
& U EE R RE SR Y
= NEE
=) Notes HK$'000
= B &E THET
T
g Property, plant and equipment M- BRERZRE 13 24,904
§ Right-of-use assets ERESE 14(a) 29,275
= Cash and bank balances ReRIBITHER 8
= Other payable HthFE T RIA (6)
- Tax payable & 1 #R 18 (1,681)
T .
o Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BATES BRI A 3R
B EETFE 52,500
e Satisfied by: LT EA
= Cash consideration ReRKE 52,500
at
A
E An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the FRAKBNRESRESNAOT -
acquisition is as follows:
o HK$'000
1210 : FHBT
| | Cash consideration HEeERE (52,500)
Cash and bank balances acquired Fril i 2 IR & R IR1T 48R 8
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in ST AFARKXEFZETHZ2RE
cash flows used in investing activities mEZREEES
FEEB ML FE (52,492)
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Notes to Financial Statements (cuminued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

SEHERERMEE

(a) Major non-cash transactions
(i) During the vyear,

(i)~ During the vyear,
additions to
liabilities of HK$1,782,000
HK$1,782,000 (2023: Nil),

respect of a lease arrangement for a plant.

non-current deposits of (i)
HK$39,648,000 (2023: HK$48,236,000) were
transferred to property, plant and equipment.

right-of-use assets and

(a) FEFRERS

lease
(2023: Nil) and
respectively, in

B T(Z=

F W - JETR B % 39,648,000
T Z = £

48,236,000 TT) EBEEY
¥ BB REE-
the Group had non-cash (il FW AEER—EREHE

ZHARNUNERESAFEE A
B8 EKHEARK,782,000
BRT(ZIBE_=F 8K
1,782,000 TT(ZFEZ =4 :

f®) o
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MMEFBHELANEEES
activities
Interest-bearing
Lease bank
liabilities borrowings
HEEE SEBITEM
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHBT THBT
At 1 April 2022 R-ZB-__£/MB—H 21,811 648,557
Changes from financing MERERESH
cash flows (9,558) (27,393)
Interest expenses FMEMRX 470 —
Interest paid classified as NHEAREREREN
operating cash flows EFE (470) —
Exchange realignment BE 2 3 B (450) 1,659
At 31 March 2023 and RZIEZ=%=ZH=+—H
1 April 2023 AZEBEZ=ZFMYA—H 11,803 622,823
Changes from financing MERERESLH
cash flows (9,686) 341,763
New lease WHEE 1,782 —
Interest expenses MERX 238 —
Interest paid classified as NEAREHEREM
operating cash flows EFE (238) -
Exchange realignment BE &2 3 2 (216) (55,122)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-mE=F=+—§ 3,683 909,464
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBERRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

SERERERME @

(c) HERERMHLERE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the SFARERERVEEREREE
statement of cash flows is as follows: AT -

2024 2023
- = 111 - 3 B =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within operating activities ML EEN 552 635
Within financing activities AR EEB N 9,686 9,558
Total et 10,238 10,193

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities not provided for at the end of the reporting
period (2023: Nil).

As at 31 March 2024, corporate guarantees to banks to
the extent of HK$1,490,290,000 (2023: HK$1,108,450,000)
were given by the Company and certain subsidiaries of
the Company for banking facilities granted to the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company, which
were utilised to the extent of approximately
HK$909,464,000 (2023: HK$622,823,000) at the end of the
reporting period.

32. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

31.

32.

FAREBE
RI|ERAR  AEBWBEMEREEZ
EAZAREBBE(ZE_=ZF #&) -

Contracted, but not provided for: ERTHERE®E -
Renovation and purchases of

property, plant and equipment e

RERBEYE BEK

RIB_ME=ZA=+—8 &2 3T KK
NEETHEB A M@IRITIEMH®
1,490,290,000% (= & =— = £ :
1,108,450,00058 7T) N Bl R - LUER =
FARNBEANBDETHEA MR
HEREE" ﬁqﬂﬁAiﬁiﬁﬁﬂe Bl
909,464,000 (= ¥ = = £ :
622,823,0003& 7T) ©
2
AEBRBEPRZERRENOT ¢
2024 2023
—EC-E —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
47,702 96,780




33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties
during the year:

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

33. AEALRS

(a) FRRAMBHRRHME D FEOR
2 AEERENEBEALE
TTINERRS -

2023
—EZ=H
Notes HK$'000
B 5% FAET
A related company —BAARANBEEEREME
indirectly controlled by a  EEHIMWEEAXR
substantial shareholder of
the Company:
Rental expenses* HEmX* (i) 7,723 7,741
Service fee iR 7 & (ii) 8,591 8,850
A director and shareholder —&ZANBEEFIKE
of the Company:
Interest income FEKA (iii) = 60
Substantial shareholder of AABEERE :
the Company:
Service fee R#& & (iv) = 102
Notes: Ff 53

(i) The Group entered into lease agreements with Pouyuen
Vietnam Company Limited (“Pouyuen Vietnam”), a
related company indirectly controlled by Yue Yuen, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, for the rental
of (a) a plant at a monthly rate of US$71,184 for a
term of three years from 1 June 2021 to 31 May
2024; and (b) a plant at a monthly rate of US$11,094
for a term of two years and six months from 1
December 2020 to 31 May 2023, which was renewed
on 1 June 2023 with monthly rate of VND261,064,008
(equivalent to HK$81,000) for 13 months from 1 June
2023 to 30 June 2024.

(i) AEBHE—ZARBEERRBT
i 3% 1= %l B9 B 8 2 S Pouyuen
Vietnam Company Limited
(['Pouyuen Vietnam J) 3T HH & 15
# - UHEMBE@— B AMEAT184%
THEKRE BEZEZ—F/,"A—H
REZFENMEABR=+—HILA
H=%F Kb—fEAHEH1,094%
THHKE B _FSHF+A—
HEZ-_F-_=FAA=+—H1
REMENEA ZBEORZ-S
_=EERNRB—HEXN BHEAR
261,064,008 Fa /& (18 % 781,000
B BZEZ=FA—HEZE
ZEONENA=+THILEABE+=
@A -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=H=+—H

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(a) (continued)
Notes: (continued)
(i) (continued)
* Right-of-use assets of HK$1,334,000 (2023:

(b)

(c)

HK$7,755,000) and lease liabilities of
HK$1,374,000 (2023: HK$7,908,000) related
to the leases with related parties were
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2024. During
the year, depreciation of right-of-use assets of
HK$7,490,000 (2023: HK$7,510,000) and finance
costs on lease liabilities of HK$120,000 (2023:
HK$242,000) were recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

(ii) The service fee to Pouyuen Vietnam was made on a
basis mutually agreed by both parties.

(iii) The interest income was charged at 4.35% per annum
on a loan to Mr. Huang Yongbiao, a director and
shareholder of the Company.

(iv) The service fee paid to Pou Chen Corporation (“Pou
Chen"), a substantial shareholder of the Company, was
charged on actual cost incurred.

[tem (ii) above also constitutes continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Included in accrued liabilities and other payables is
an amount due to Pouyuen Vietnam of
HK$3,832,000 (2023: HK$5,738,000), which is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The directors are the key management personnel of
the Group. Details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

3. AEALTRS &

(a) (&

MisE : (48)

(i) (#8)

* HEEALTHEERNER
& E1,334,0008 T (Z F
— = £ :7,755,000% TT) &
= & 1&1,374,0008 T (=
F Z = £ :7,908,000% JT)
A_ZB_ME=ZB=+—H
MireMBERTRBER - F
N R EE ETE
7,490,000 7T(Z & = =
£ :7,510,000i& T) X H &
& &R E A A<120,0003 T
(ZE/BZ =4 :242,000% JT)
RERERERRER -

(i) 45 FPouyuen VietnamKI IR 15 & %
EHRBCEEXM-

(i) MBM—BERAANBDESHRBREHKEL
EREZEFRZHBBRNRERNE
4.35% W EX -

(iv) M—Z2ARNBEEBREERTHERK
HERAE ([ER) XNHNREE
RE MR E £ WA BB

EXE)IEIRE R iR B E14A

EMEENFERERS -

(b) EiaEREMEMRIEGIEEMN
Pouyuen Vietnam B 183,832,000
BIL(ZE =4 :5,738,0008
T ZREARER RERAR

(c) EZALEEBEZEFEEBAE K

FH 2 5B R M R R MY EEei

Ego



34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

Financial assets

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

34. TR T RN

ERTHRTERKSHROKREENT

THEE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FET
Financial assets at amortised cost; RIBIHR AT RN ERIEE -
Accounts receivable JE WL BR 7Rk 324,572 345,113
Financial assets included in FAAEMNTRE -ZEK
prepayments, deposits and other HMERFRIEN
receivables ERMEE 11,229 13,981
Restricted bank balance 52 PRl SR 17 45 8% 1,084 1,143
Cash and bank balances HE& RIRITHER 490,058 515,387
Total Et 826,943 875,624
Financial liabilities Bt =R
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: IREHMATIENESREE -
Accounts payable J& 1 BR X 306,698 375,744
Financial liabilities included in FFAEHABREMEN
accrued liabilities and other RENEHEE
payables 31,357 59,898
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFRIRITER 909,464 622,823
Lease liabilities HEAaE 3,683 11,803
Total AEt 1,251,202 1,070,268
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=H=+—H

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

35.

CAT EG ORY (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

The directors consider the carrying amounts of all
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost approximate to their fair values as at the
end of the reporting period largely due to the short term
maturities of these instruments. The fair value of non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank borrowings has
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as accounts receivable, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, a restricted bank balance, accounts payable,
financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other
payables and lease liabilities, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’'s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
liquidity risk and credit risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

34. SR TR 9% o

35.

EMaE @)

EZRA RBSHPR - FTEREHEHRE
FFENEREEREMABANKREER
HAVERE  KBBERZFTIENES
A& - st RIRTERWIFIL R 22
FELDRBEEREMUER  FERR R
BREIEZ TREE 1A XIEIREARS
ARREEREFAESL -

HHERBEREZ BERBE

FAEENTEEMTEEGEARRITE
ARBEERIRTER ZFEMTAEZE
ZENAZBEAEEFECERFES -+ &
EEEBWIRT  FIARMNRE - B2
HttBWRENEMEE - IRGIIRTHE
B BNERARGABREREENS
HENEREBEUNITHEREFSEEH
thERMEEREE  DRELEREEE
Ao

FEEESMIBZTEZRBIRBE AR
Rk - SMERER - MBEERARREER
- EEEERTHBEEERREHER
ZBR - BARAWT -



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The Group regularly reviews and monitors the floating
interest rate borrowings in order to manage its interest
rate risk. The interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash
and bank balances are stated at amortised cost and not
revalued on a periodic basis. Floating rate interest
income and expenses are credited/charged to the income
statement as earned/incurred.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all
other variables held constant, of the Group's net profit
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

35. MEEKER 2BIERBIE

(&)

I 2= [ B
AEEMARZT SN ERBHEREE
HEAEEZIHANRFRBNRITERE
-

FEEEHEELERIEEEUERE
HARER - st BRIRTERRBEERIRT
ERREENANER  MAGEREMR -
FRHBBARZHR B REE BN
EELEFTLUER -

TRIRAEMAH (HIREEHE) Y
AETRERZARRH (FEEMmEE
T 2 B -

Increase in
interest rate Decrease
(basis points) in net profit
FIZIE M (EE) il F R
HK$'000
FET
2024 —EME 100 7,594
2023 —EJE-=F 100 5,201
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
—EpmE=H=+—H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from a substantial portion of sales or
purchases by operating units in United States dollars
("US$") and RMB. As the foreign currency risk arising
from sales and purchases can be set off with each other
given that the Hong Kong dollars are pegged to US$, the
Group believes its exposure to exchange rate risk is
minimal. It is the policy of the Group to continue
maintaining the balance of its sales and purchases in the
same currency. However, as the functional currency of
the PRC subsidiaries is RMB and the Group’s financial
statements are reported in Hong Kong dollars, there will
be a translation credit/debit to the exchange fluctuation
reserve as a result of RMB appreciation/depreciation.
The majority of the Group’s operating assets are located
in Chinese Mainland and denominated in RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposures and will consider hedging
the significant foreign currency exposures should the
need arise.

35. MEEKER 2BIERBE

€-2

4 BE = B

AEEARRZEKRR - B RRAR
PHEEBUMUET((ET)RARKE
ETEEELE -BRBTHEITHIE B
BEEAZERRTUERRE ~&H
RS HINERBRER - AEESEREER
MEREHKETEEZ FHBX - A
HRFERBABMUARERNEER
EAEBZMBHRRDLBTER  ®A
REME RESGEEFANMKREE
REBRENEREE - AEEKRPLLE
BEEHMURPEKNE LUARES
B-

AEB B EISER PR - AT B
EEERNERR TEEAFERHT
BEXRIERRR -



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change in the RMB exchange rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's net profit (due to

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBEBRME(R)
31 March 2024
¥ opmE=/F=+—H

. HBRABEEZBEREER

(&)

SMNEE R\ B (4)
TRINRAEFRLHHAREERRE
SHRAREHRZAEES (FMEEME
EERFTB)ZHREHREBEER
BEAFEEZE)

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
liabilities):
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate net profit
EXEH wFE N,
(TFEK) GR )
HK$'000
FET
2024 ZEMNE
If HK$ strengthens against RMB HMETEAREAE 3% (115)
If HK$ weakens against RMB BT ARERE (3%) 115
2023 k- =Ja—- 3
If HK$ strengthens against RMB HWETREAREAE 3% (1,356)
If HK$ weakens against RMB HWBTE ARKERE (3%) 1,356
Liquidity risk BN E & B

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and the projected cash
flows from operations.

The Group maintains a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing
bank borrowings and other banking facilities. The
directors have reviewed the Group’s working capital and
capital expenditure requirements and determined that the
Group has no significant liquidity risk.

rEEEAECEERBESRETEAER
RETHRZEAR ZEIRTEEEHM
TERERMEE (WEBKERR 2HAB
o UREEFRZETRERA -

AEEZBERFRRTEREHEMIR
THEREE HERESHEHEREER
ZENFE BEFCRILEENEEER
RERBES R -
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

35.

HHERBEEEZBERBE

€-2

nBEEREE)
RB|BERR  AEERBEORTRMAR
AREZERMEEINHERAT ¢

On demand

or within 1to 5
1 year years Total
—FRN 1E545 “ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FET
2024 —EME
Accounts payable F& 1 BR 3R 306,698 - 306,698
Financial liabilities included in SFANESTEEREM
accrued liabilities and other FE < FIE MY <& Rl
payables =N 31,357 — 31,357
Interest-bearing bank borrowings* i BIRITE > 670,914 272,554 943,468
Lease liabilities HEaE 3,407 322 3,729
Total HEt 1,012,376 272,876 1,285,252
2023 s =
Accounts payable P& BR K 375,744 — 375,744
Financial liabilities included in FFAEtaEREM
accrued liabilities and other FE 14 SRIB Y & Rt
payables =L 58,529 — 58,529
Interest-bearing bank borrowings* st EIRITEFH* 548,783 84,967 633,750
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,148 2,970 12,118
Total st 992,204 87,937 1,080,141
* As at 31 March 2024, included in interest-bearing bank * AZEZME=ZA=+—8 ERTE

borrowings were bank loans of HK$651,074,000 (2023:
HK$387,323,000) containing repayment on demand clauses
giving the lenders the unconditional right to call the loans at
any time and therefore, for the purpose of the above
maturity profile, these amounts are classified as “on
demand”. Notwithstanding the above repayment on demand
clause, the directors do not believe that the bank loans will
be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the maturity dates as set out in the respective
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the
financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the
financial statements; the Group’s compliance with the loan
covenants; the lack of events of default, and the fact that the
Group has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.
In accordance with the terms of the bank loans, these bank
loans of HK$651,074,000 (2023: HK$387,323,000) will mature
by November 2024 (2023: August 2023).

FEF N IR 1T & 651,074,000 T(Z F
Z =4 :387,323,000870)  ESEEKE
ERR BFTEAEREEGREERN
A Bl S ERBRBERMS 2%
SEEDEAEER] -BELAREEX
EERR BEERE RITERTIRI2
BARESIMKE @ WiRBRITEREERR
HEGEASHNEE R EE - ARF-HD
LEBUTHREEEH AEERMER
RIWEBNHEBERRL AEBETERE
BHER BEENEG UERAEERS
REEERELEINER - RIBRT
BRER - 2 FRITE 651,074,000 T
(ZEB =4 :387,323,0008TT) ISR
“HE+—B(ZEZ=F T8 =5F)\
B)EIHE -



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

Notes to Financial Statements (cuminued)

MEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
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35. MEEKER 2BIERBIE

(&)

EERE
AEBEHEDBUKEERFNE=ZHE
TR - AEBEHBEUBREARXRREH

%ﬁéﬁL TEEEE - i BIKFKIE
EHRTEFHERE -
EBRERFEIEER
T%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ%l%%%ﬁ%%%%
BERLkRSEERR FEERAHEHR
(%#E%%ﬂ?fﬂﬁﬁﬁxﬂﬁﬁ$
HBENNERTERS) RKR=ZB=+—
HEFERE R DT - %zﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ@%

TRMEERKREME-

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@A
BEHEE
BB SHEBEEEE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E—ME SEEBE SF=ZEER @BEAE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
2024 ZE_MNEF
Accounts receivable* & Wi BR 3R = = - 324,572 324,572
Financial assets included in AAAEMRE - REK
prepayments, deposits and other Hih BB &7
receivables BE
— Normal** — EEE** 11,229 - — - 11,229
Restricted bank balance F IR HIIR1T 48R
— Not yet past due — K@ 1,084 - - - 1,084
Cash and bank balances RERIBITER
— Not yet past due — R@H 490,058 - - - 490,058
Total FEE 502,371 - - 324,572 826,943
2023 - =Sl 3
Accounts receivable* FE Wt BR JR — — — 345,113 345,113
Financial assets included in AAAEMRE - REK
prepayments, deposits and other HtEWRIBR € /b
receivables BE
— Normal** — EE** 13,981 — — — 13,981
Restricted bank balance IR HIRIT R
— Not yet past due — R H 1,143 — — — 1,143
Cash and bank balances B&RIRTHER
— Not yet past due — K@ 515,387 — — — 515,387
Total HEt 530,511 — — 345,113 875,624
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBBRME(E)
31 March 2024
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(continued)

* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the

simplified approach for impairment allowance is disclosed in
note 19 to the financial statements.

* %

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. Capital includes bank borrowings and equity
attributable to owners of the parent. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities.
The Group's policy is to keep the current ratio above 1.
As at 31 March 2024, the current ratio was 1.4 (2023:
1.3).
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MBHRRMWE(E)
31 March 2024
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 36. XA R BIRNER
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of BEARNERBEHRNEBERTERN
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as ERWMT -
follows:

2024 2023
ot Sl 1 - _E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

T#&T TET E
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREBEE E
Investments in subsidiaries REBABZRE 43,368 43,368 S
CURRENT ASSETS it 1§13 =
Due from subsidiaries & W B I 2 Bl B 3,237,230 3,015,964 %
Prepayments BT FRIE 184 541 =2
Cash and bank balances RE MRTHEER 1,040 876 =
Total current assets NBEERE 3,238,454 3,017,381 S

o

CURRENT LIABILITIES g I R=Ri &
Due to subsidiaries FE 15 B |8 1~ Bl RUIE 2,208,073 1,943,307 é
Accrued liabilities and other payables [F& &t & & K H fth F& 4 k18 147 — =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERIBITER 9,396 157,000 ~
Tax payable & {1 18 739 739 ﬁ
Total current liabilities MEEEEE 2,218,355 2,101,046 =
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE 1,020,099 916,335 ;{?
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE ?}i
Interest-bearing bank borrowing FFRIBITER 258,390 78,500 =
Net assets HEFE 805,077 881,203 o
EQUITY &
Issued capital BERITERA 5,338 5,338 ! !
Reserves (note) ek (B 5E) 799,739 875865 993!
Total equity BEXRBE 805,077 881,203 |
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

MEBEERRE(R)

31 March 2024
—EFopmE=/F=+—H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

37.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

36. X B BIRRR®

Note: BEzE -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AKAFREZHMEDNT -
Share
premium Capital Retained
account reserve profits Total
Bt
HER BEXRHE JEEH st
Notes  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2022 RIBZ_FMEBE—H 573,910 43,088 330,980 947,978
Profit and total comprehensive income — FER&EH L2 m K485
for the year — — 162,759 162,759
Final 2022 dividend B ERBEER 11 — — (74,732) (74,732)
Interim 2023 dividend “BR-FHBRE 11 — —  (160,140)  (160,140)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RIBZ=F=ZA=+—8H
AZEZ=ZFMA—H 573,910 43,088 258,867 875,865
Profit and total comprehensive income — FEPEF & & HE K425
for the year = = 158,746 158,746
Special 2023 dividend TEZ=FHEKE 11 - - (32,028) (32,028)
Final 2023 dividend TEZ-FEXREERE 11 - - (42,704) (42,704)
Interim 2024 dividend “E_MEHRBEER 11 — —  (160,140) (160,140)
At 31 March 2024 RIF_M&E=A=+—H 573,910 43,088 182,741 799,739
The capital reserve of the Company represents the ANBEBEARBHEIEANGIBEEHTK
excess of the then consolidated net assets of the EBHBAIERNGEEERE BHA
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to the BT Z2ANBBEAREBEZESE - BB
Reorganisation over the nominal value of the share SEFHENTGE  BAEEBIDIRFANE
capital of the Company issued in exchange therefor. RE - EREREEZIRCEERHEE &
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the NENERREZREHSEXEPIHAEE -
capital reserve may be distributed to the shareholders of
the Company, provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 37. UMBHRZHE

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors of the Company on
11 June 2024.

HHEBRRER-_F_MNFEANB+—HE
RAABEFEHELRETT -



EAGLE NICE
EES

Units 0902-0903 & 0905-0906
9th Floor, Tower B

Regent Centre

70 Ta Chuen Ping Street

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

]

FIIELFHE705%

B0

BEE9iZ

0902-0903= % 0905-0906Z=

www.eaglenice.com

* For identification purposes only
fEALER




	COVER
	INSIDE FRONT COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
	CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
	MANUFACTURING STRENGTH: EXPANSION AND OPTIMISATION OF OUR FACTORY NETWORK
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	BACK COVER



